SUNDAY MORNING SEGREGATION:

AFRICAN AMERICAN AND EUROPEAN AMERICAN CHRISTIAN CHURCH LEADERS' PERCEPTIONS ON SEGREGATION WITHIN THE CHURCH

by

FELICITAS McKINNON BOLDIN

(Under the Direction of MARIA CAROLINA ACOSTA-ALZURU)

ABSTRACT

Drawing on standpoint theory, this study examines at the perceptions of African American and European American church leaders regarding church segregation.

Through in-depth interviews, it gathers opinions and viewpoints and explores the leaders' perceptions of the media's potential role on church segregation.

INDEX WORDS: Church Segregation, Standpoint Theory, Media

SUNDAY MORNING SEGREGATION:

AFRICAN AMERICAN AND EUROPEAN AMERICAN CHRISTIAN CHURCH LEADERS' PERCEPTIONS ON SEGREGATION WITHIN THE CHURCH

by

FELICITAS McKINNON BOLDIN

B.A., Indiana University of Pennsylvania, 2003

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF ARTS

ATHENS, GA

2005

© 2005

Felicitas McKinnon Boldin

All Rights Reserved

SUNDAY MORNING SEGREGATION:

AFRICAN AMERICAN AND EUROPEAN AMERICAN CHRISTIAN CHURCH LEADERS' PERCEPTIONS ON SEGREGATION WITHIN THE CHURCH

by

FELICITAS McKINNON BOLDIN

Major Professor: Maria Carolina

Acosta-Alzuru

Committee: Tina M. Harris

Dwight Brooks

Electronic Version Approved:

Maureen Grasso Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2005

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank the participants in this study for their time and willingness to assist me, without them this project would not have been possible.

I would like to acknowledge and thank my advisor, Dr. Carolina Acosta-Alzuru, first for her willingness to lead me in this academic endeavor. I would also like to thank her for her guidance and thorough evaluation of my research and writing. Her enthusiasm and dedication to serving as a mentor for me and numerous other students as we take larger strides in our academic journeys is unparalleled, as she constantly encourages while candidly shares her own research processes, struggles and joys. I admire her commitment to research and am honored to have had the opportunity to work with and learn from her. It is remarkable and rare to witness someone working in their career with such passion and to be able to be a part of that. Dr. A is a person who is truly doing what she is meant to do in life with heart and dedication and consequently inspires others to do the same; thank you.

I would also like to acknowledge Drs. Tina Harris and Dwight Brooks for their dedication to the education of racial issues and interracial communication. It is professors such as these who change people's perceptions and minds one at a time to better our society as a whole. I thank them both for their insight and inspiration. I would like to extend a special thanks to Dr. Harris for shedding light onto this subject area for me and for listening and talking through my ideas in the initial stages of my thesis.

I also extend recognition and gratitude to my parents for their constant academic and emotional support. Without their placing such a strong emphasis on education from

a young age and encouraging me to further my education and "take the thesis track," I would not be here. The continued conversations, listening and advisement helped me to work through this entire thesis process each step of the way over the past two years of my graduate career. I truly cannot thank them enough.

To my brothers, sister-in-law, extended family and friends, I thank you as well for your continued inquiries on my progress and for your phone calls, e-mails, listening, support and prayers. Thank you to Shelly and Felicia for keeping me company during the long hours at several of the local coffee shops. It is an amazing blessing to know that I have such a wide and strong support net. Thank you to all of the above mentioned people for showing interest, offering encouragement and for believing in me and this endeavor.

Lastly, and most importantly, I thank God for planting seeds of interest toward racial issues in my heart and mind; for giving me the courage to change my topic and follow through on a new idea and for placing the above people in my life to finish this work through me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
My Standpoint	2
Christian Identity, White Supremacy, The Black Church and	
Segregation	4
Significance of the Study	8
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	12
Church Segregation	12
Media and Religion	19
Research Questions	23
3 THEORY AND METHODS	25
Standpoint Theory	25
Method: In-Depth Interviews	34
4 ANALYSIS	38
Perceptions of Congregation's Racial Makeup	39
Idealizing their Church's Racial Composition	42
Causes of Segregation in the Church	46
The Media's Role	52

		Responsibility of Pastors	61
5	С	ONCLUSIONS	64
		Discussion	64
		Limitations	71
REFE	REN	CES	75
APPEI	NDIC	DES	82
	Α	INTERVIEWEE PROFILES	82
	В	CONSENT FORM	84
	С	INTERVIEW GUIDE	85

"There is neither Jew nor Greek, slave nor free, male nor female for you are all one." Galatians 3:28

"A new commandment I give you: love one another as I have loved you, so you must love one another." John 13:34

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Civil rights activist Fannie Lou Hamer is credited with saying that the most segregated place on earth is America on Sunday mornings (Price, 2001). Millions of Christians attend churches in the United States to worship and to enjoy fellowship with other believers, but often the racial makeup of the congregation offers little to no diversity. There are still issues of racial prejudice and discrimination throughout our society, but if there is going to be one place and time when everyone can come together under one roof to worship and celebrate the same God, one would think a Christian church service on Sunday morning may be a likely place and time. Because this is not the case, questions arise such as: Is it that specific denominations lend themselves to a particular racial or ethnic group? Is the separation due to cultural differences? Are discrimination and prejudice within the Christian community the cause of this segregation, or perhaps it is the strength of societal forces and institutions that elicit Sunday morning segregation within one "body of Christ"? What are the perceptions of church leaders regarding the racial makeup of their place of worship? What do they believe the causes are for church segregation? Do the media play any role in this?

This thesis examines the latter three questions. As a Christian, a student of mass media and an individual holding strong beliefs and a passion for civil rights, I aim to better understand the "why" of church segregation through its leaders. This is an exploratory study of their perceptions.

Price posits that integration and an end to racist thought and action can and should occur in the Christian community, thus utilizing the church as a model for, and bridge to, anti-racist thought for all areas of society:

If the church takes on its role as the salt of the earth and the light of the world so that all Christians cease to hold racist thoughts in their minds and practice racism in their lives, if all Christians everywhere condemn racism as the sin it is, the "huge racial chasm" will finally close (Price, 2001, p. 135).

It is apparent that racism and segregation still exist within the Christian community and in many facets of our society, and though issues of race are extremely complicated, I hope that this research will promote change and positive growth on some level and perhaps prompt the church at-large to become more racially united.

My Standpoint

I have selected this topic for a few different reasons. The first is that I am a Christian and have noticed through attending a number of different Christian churches, there is little racial/ethnic diversity in most congregations. In addition, as a student of mass communication, I am well aware of the media's prominence in our society and its effect on us all in terms of normalcy, beauty, success and other such social constructions that the media is constantly bombarding us with. My third reason for this topic, is a passion that I possess for a society freed of

racism and discrimination; a nation working toward true equality. In addition, I agree with Price (2001) in that the church truly can be a force that aids in the elimination of racist thought and action. It seems completely paradoxical that a faith institution based on love can be one of such hypocrisy and separation in so many instances.

I believe that this topic is important in that it has the potential to push the church community toward acting as an example for effective interracial communication. I believe that this research is also valuable because it is adding to the body of knowledge concerning interracial communication, which is an important and growing field because "race continues to be one of the most important issues in the United States" (Orbe & Harris, 2001, p. 8). Any knowledge that can be added to the discipline will hopefully bring about educational and attitudinal shifts. Finally, I think that the church is a good place to start because it is an established institution that and has a long societal history and a strong presence in the U.S. thus giving the church a strong voice and network from which to communicate the changes needed concerning interracial communication in all aspects of our society.

My own racial identity as a white woman has been shaped and better understood by my interactions and relationships with those of a different race than my own. I have been able to understand my position of white privilege through conversations and observations of non-whites in a racially hierarchical society. A particular time of growth in my racial identity came through my involvement in an interracial dating relationship in college. Hearing stories of

racism and sometimes witnessing these unfair treatments gave me a deeper understanding of how race, though often unconsidered by a white member of society such as me, does play a larger role in daily encounters than I had previously understood and acknowledged. Additionally, my extensive travel experience to more than fifteen countries and five continents provided opportunities to witness racial constructions in locations such as India and South Africa where issues of a caste system and Apartheid, respectively, play a major role in interracial interactions. Living among and talking with natives throughout my travel experiences showed me that skin color holds unwarranted importance globally. Finally, my enrollment in an interracial communications course while completing my graduate studies at UGA taught me even more about interracial issues and caused me to examine my own cultural identity. Though an often draining and difficult topic, matters of race, ethnicity and culture have continually intrigued me and have been important in shaping who I am, how I perceive myself and how I perceive and interact with others, particularly in interracial settings.

Christian Identity, White Supremacy, The Black Church and Segregation

In order to better understand the issue of church segregation, it is crucial to look back into the history of how the church became a segregated institution. For additional background to frame this study, a brief discussion on Christian Identity and its opposition identifying as a Christian is laid out. Identifying as a Christian and Christian Identity are not the same thing in America. Christianity is defined as "Professing belief in Jesus as Christ or following the religion based on the life

and teachings of Jesus; Christ like; showing a loving concern for others; humane" (The American Heritage Dictionary, 2000). In other words, to identify as a Christian is to find your identity in Christ and to follow his teachings and commandments. Christian Identity, in contrast, is a movement involving extremely conservative Christian groups, the largest of which is the Ku Klux Klan (KKK). But the KKK is not the only group that subscribes to Christian Identity. Churches that believe in and practice white supremacy, anti-Semitism and racism are also part of this umbrella group. (Ostendorf, 2002). More than 50,000 people in the United States alone practice this anti-Semitic, racist ideology (Robinson, 2005). Of course those followers of the Christian Identity movement also identify as Christians, but their belief system and practices are far from the teachings of Jesus Christ (Ostendorf, 2002).

The Christian Identity movement dates back to the early 1900s when a growing social club, The American Anglo-Saxon Federation, popularized British-Israelism, which is the belief that Northern Europe and Great Britain are the gathering place for the twelve lost tribes of Israel (Barkan, 1997). For about 50 years following the introduction of British-Israelism in the U.S., it became more racist and anti-Semitic, breeding The Christian Identity movement (Barkan, 1997). Obviously, this Christian Identity movement is one that perpetuates segregation within the Christian community, and Ostendorf (2002) believes that it will continue to do so as long as these groups continue to follow and practice the beliefs of the Christian Identity movement.

Though it may be difficult to believe that members of these extremist groups will change, it is possible, as in the case of Tom Tarrants, a former KKK member turned Christian (Kingsolving, 1993). Following his conversion to Christianity, Tarrants became a pastor of an interracial church where he preaches the message of ending racism in the church. Even though respected Reverend Billy Graham (1993) said, "Of all people, Christians should be the most active in reaching out to those of other races, instead of accepting the status quo of division and animosity" (p. 27), Tarrants does not believe many white churches in general are concerned with racial issues inside the church, nor are black churches interested in an integrationist movement (cited in Kingsolving, 1993). Though Christians do need to be active in combating racism and segregation to demonstrate Christ's love for all people, Sharp (2002) posits that many who claim Christianity ignore, and are not concerned with, the "devastation" of racism. Sharp claims that these actions of ignorance "bring insult and injury to God and desecrate the humanity of others and themselves" (p. 251).

In an interview, author Juan Williams explained that it is essential to understand that racial separation in the church stems from societal segregation of blacks from whites (cited in Hodges & Siegel, 2003). A segregated society causes not only the absence of blacks from certain churches, but also the creation of new churches. For instance, the black Baptist movement started in 18th century when former slaves of ministers worked to create a separate church for blacks to participate in fellowship and worship (Hodges & Siegel, 2003). Some then feared that integration could take away some of the power of

leadership and freedom to worship however they chose that the black church had fought for before and during the Civil Rights Movement and that these churches may become non-existent. This fear exists even today. Because the freedom allowed through the black church is tied to the Civil Rights struggle for freedom, it plays an important leadership role in the black community and is a source of strength and a place of acceptance. It is a community, unlike society at large, that does not come from an Eurocentric framework (Hodges & Siegel, 2003).

Despite this opportunity for leadership and power, Williams (2003) underscores the potential harm of ignoring the integrationist agenda:

The integrationist agenda is about achieving justice. It's not about selling out or exacting retribution. African Americans should have the confidence to sit at America's tables as equals—as citizens without regard to race. They can say in all honesty, 'Listen, we have been instrumental in generating the wealth of this country. We are equal citizens and have equal political rights and a voice in this country. We're not going to surrender it by not voting or not raising our hand to speak about key social-policy issues. We're not going to be minimized.'

The integrationist agenda shouldn't be dismissed as old hat, old school or silly idealism. Integration is essential if African-Americans are going to have a hand at the lever of power in American society. King recognized that, and recognized that anyone whose conscious has been formed by Christianity must see the truth in the integrationist agenda (quoted in Hodges & Siegel, 2003, p. 48).

Though it is important to understand the roots of the black church, I believe Williams is trying to underline the importance of African Americans not defining the Christian part, or any other part of their identity, as simply the opposite of white and dominant culture. "Mere contradiction becomes black identity," (quoted in Hodges & Siegel, 2003, p. 48) which gives a tremendous amount of power to whites and narrows who the black individual is apart from "simply a representation of a white person's shadow" (quoted in Hodges &

Siegel, 2003, p. 48). The goal is to identify with the black church and to use it as a source of unity, as well as a means by which to create greater good within the broader society. Conversely, Simms (2000) states that black Christianity "is not simply white religion with a cosmetic face lift. Rather the quintessence of African-American spiritual-mindedness is grounded in the social and political experience of Black people" (Simms, 2000, p. 100). His argument would be on the side of continued, and voluntary, segregation between the two churches. Likewise, the writings of Donald McGavan and C. Peter Wagner beginning in the 70s, posit that monoracial churches are "socially-relevant and biblically based" (quoted in DeYoung, et. al., 2003, p. 123). Their thought is that it is inevitable that societies will be racially and culturally separated, so rather than putting time and effort into "trying to change this reality" (p. 123), time would be better spent toward evangelistic efforts. They believe, however, that an exception to this would be forming multiracial congregations where the society is already diversified. In other words, they see society as the impetus for change in the church and not the other way around.

Significance of the Study

These opposing views on black Christianity and white Christianity, the power struggle between them, and whether complete integration is a plus or not has been debated for years by such scholars as DuBois, Nicholson, Lincoln, and Baum and Coleman (Pollard & Welchel, 2003), and opinions will most likely continue to vary. This conflict is one reason why there is a need for this type of

research, so that the issue of the segregated church is still thought through, discussed and, most importantly, acted upon. Prejudices and anti-integrationist sentiment within both black and white Christian communities further complicate the situation of segregation within the Christian community. As we know, race is still an issue in our society, even with those who identify as Christian, and despite some progress on the surface, there is still a significant amount of underlying tension where race is concerned that can be seen in several aspects of our Eurocentric society. My personal belief is that the church can act as a leader toward a more integrated society.

I believe in the importance of this study because of the continual misrepresentation and misuse of Christianity. What I mean by this is that, too often, white supremacists groups, such as the KKK, look to the Bible as their source of justification for racist actions (Perkinson, 2004). Also, many whites, Christian or not, simply are not aware of the "cultural" and "institutional" racism that exists even today in our societal customs, institutions, language, structure and standards (Davies & Hennessee, 1998). This lack of awareness is often due to privilege (Orbe & Harris, 2001), which is the idea that whites often have certain benefits in society simply based on their skin color. It is the privilege that whites have to be ignorant about the history of other people, and to those possessing this privilege, it is not apparent, while to those without it, it is the most apparent (Tait & Gorder, 2004). It could be this inequality of societal privilege that leads to instances of prejudice from blacks toward whites. These barriers that are created based on religious teachings are, in my opinion, not the original intent of

spirituality, thus the need for ways in which to study and break down these barriers. This study is also important because, whether we recognize it or not, radicalized thinking is embedded within Eurocentric academic thought processes, which has been challenged since the 1970's and needs to be continually challenged in order to discontinue the reducing of "cultures or societies to a central core or feature" (Johnson et. al., 2004, p. 12). Instead, we need to find ways in which to understand the differences in history and cultures and operate from a viewpoint of coming together to learn about and embrace these variations.

Contrary to the current social landscape, in which identity is likely to be determined by opposition, violence, and brutality to others (whether by race, culture, tradition, language, wealth, credentials, sexual orientation or gender), the Christian response calls for an affirmation of community and the counterthemes of trust, mutual respect, and the vision of a new world (Matsuoka, 1998, p.6).

Essentially, as Christians, we have a responsibility towards social justice and peace.

As the literature suggests, identifying as a Christian can mean different things for blacks and whites. The black Christian community holds many differences in terms of history, and, in some cases, practices from the white Christian community, which contributes to segregation within the community instead of melding these different groups and fostering a spirit of love and oneness within the Christian body as a whole. It is important to account for the history behind these differences and the segregation, history rooted in slavery and the Civil Rights movement. The black Christian community, again, is tied to a specific struggle and the gaining of power, freedom and leadership which white Christians can understand to an extent, but not completely identify with. Despite

not being able to identify with these struggles, it is imperative that whites discontinue their ignorance to both historical and present day inequalities, and that black and white Christians make strides together toward uniting the church. With these thoughts in mind, I draw on the opinions and viewpoints of both black and white Christian leaders, using in-depth interviews to better understand church segregation and the possible influence that the media have on perpetuating this issue.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

Segregation in the church violates something that is basic in the nature of the church. How can the church exclude from the 'Church of God' those who are children of God? How can it, as the 'Body of Christ,' withhold the privilege of worship from those who have been brought into union with Christ? How can a group that claims to be a part of a fellowship of the Spirit refuse to share with any of the redeemed, or deny admission to its place of worship to those who seek that redemption? Unthinkable! Yes, unthinkable, and yet there are many groups that call themselves churches that are doing that very thing. –T.B. Maston, 1959.

Church Segregation

Despite the lengthy history of church segregation and many books assessing the situation, there is not a large body of knowledge regarding actual research on the subject. Furthermore, most of the academic literature found is from the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s, and though it provides an historical framework on the issue, it does not delve into the actual experiences of the phenomena. Arguably, however, the issue is pertinent and should be addressed more often.

Paul wrote that the church is one body made up of many diverse components. Our diversity need not be a reason for division. The church of Jesus, which is one church in theory, must become one church in reality. Unity is not optional (Tait & Gorder, 2004, p. 176).

The segregation between the black and white church dates back to colonial times and the arrival of slaves to North America (Hough, 1968, p. 171), which not only took the freedom of countless men, women and children, but also divided the opinions of whites in the North and whites in the South on the issue of

slavery. While northerners were generally opposed to slavery, it was southern pastors and other church leaders who believed slavery to be God's will (Hough, 1968). As slavery continued, some slave owners, but not all, began to encourage slaves to attend church (Maffly-Kipp, 2004). While some owners would encourage attending churches with worship styles similar to that of the patterns of traditional African worship, often Methodist and Baptist, others insisted on the slaves attending white-controlled churches, frequently Presbyterian, in order to counteract the potential of rebellion (Maffly-Kipp, 2004). Prior to the Civil War, northern church leaders argued against church segregation, claiming it not to be the will of God, while southern church leaders argued the opposite (Hough, 1968). Since this time in history, ideas and opinions on how to bring together the black and white church or how to keep it separate have been debated. Hough (1968) wrote:

...it is my fervent hope that this white Protestant response to the new development in the Negro community can become some small part of the continuing interfaith dialogue on the problems of race relations which is so necessary if we Americans are ever to achieve racial justice (p. 21).

Essays over the years analyzing thoughts and ideas of various religious persons in terms of prejudice and segregation have arrived at different conclusions. Glock and Stark (1966) found that the more orthodox a Christian believer is, the more anti-Semitic he will be. Argyle (1959) found that Protestants who did not attend church regularly were more prejudiced than those who do, and atheists and agnostics were also found to be less racially prejudiced than the non-church-attending Protestants. This may lead to the conclusion that some Christians are just as prejudiced, or in the case of the non-practicing Christians in

this study, more prejudiced than non-believers, which of course goes against the very basis of Christ's teaching on love.

Another reason for church segregation was the belief that despite efforts of national denominational counsels to eradicate racist behavior in the church, this was not always followed throughout the denominations on a local level (Hough, 1968). These opponents to church integration were more often found in the South than the North. Frequently, they justified their idea of segregation as Biblically-based (Hough, 1968).

In his book, *Is God a White Racist?* (1973), Jones looks at the idea of "divine racism." He analyzes both scholarly and theological works and argues that the oppression of the black community could be due to this "divine racism" from God himself. Jones concludes that his stance, though arrogant, is to continue a debate. He claims that "to speak of God as the ground for black hope—without the prior refutation of divine racism—is sheer theological illusion and pipe dreaming" (p. 202). He concludes by posing a question: "Have we removed a substantial hope, or exposed a comfortable but ill-advised illusion?" (p. 202).

Jones' analysis as a white man is far different from that of Barbour (1967) who believes that the white man's role in race relations is crucial, that white pastors and ministers were missing opportunities for unity and integration.

Barbour writes of a discussion that took place in the late 1960s among both black and whites of the National Council of Churches. They concluded that for church integration to truly work, it would be necessary for blacks and whites to keep the

communication going, to love all people—even the segregationists—and to be prepared for the struggles and divisions among congregations, business and even families (Barbour, 1967). Barbour also found that it was necessary for church leaders to initiate and work together in the fight toward integration, and although some progress has been made, this is still a pertinent necessity.

In an earlier study, in the form of a survey by the *Catholic Digest* was administered to 2,000 people (500 northern whites, 500 northern blacks, 500 southern whites and 500 southern blacks) between December 1955 and February 1956 (Tumin, 1956). The study was the "first comprehensive survey of public attitudes toward suggested solutions to the racial problems in the U.S." (Tumin, 1956, p. 94). The findings suggested that there were more similarities between white northerners' and blacks' than between white northerners and white southerners. Overall, 48 percent of whites and 90 percent of blacks were for integration. The main reasons offered for what they perceived was "standing in the way of solving the Negro-white problem" (p. 99) were prejudice, fear and misunderstanding. Fourteen percent of white northerners thought that it was the southern whites and the South that were "standing in the way of solving the Negro-white problem" (p.99), while 14 percent of southern whites believed that desegregation was the problem. This obviously reflects the divide in the opinions of northern and southern whites and how Northerners interpret segregation as the actual "problem" while Southerners saw integration to be the "problem." In terms of the church, white southerners believed that "church segregation hurts (the) solution of the "'Negro-white problem'" (Tumin, 1956, p. 99).

Shortly after, Maston (1959) also found that the need for white leaders to be active in integrationist efforts was crucial. In 1957, 80 Protestant ministers admitted their "own example of brotherhood and neighborliness has been all too imperfect" (Maston, 1959, p. 35). In Dallas, in 1958, about 300 white Protestant ministers, of 13 varying denominations, signed a statement admitting their prejudices and failures at trying to solve racial problems (Maston, 1959). This signing was followed by a group of black ministers who also agreed to the need for integration. Despite these statements at a national level, Maston found that actions did not always follow at the local level, and prejudice thoughts and prosegregation attitudes still lingered. Another declaration formulated by a White Citizens' Council leader and signed by many white ministers followed. The document defended the patterns of segregation (Maston, 1959).

From his critique, Matson concluded that there were roughly three types of Christian leaders in the South: (1) those who believe in segregation as the will of God, (2) those who believe segregation is not God's will, but chose to remain silent, and (3) those who do not believe in segregation and would openly state that both in public and in private. Matson's (1959) argument, though over forty-years-old, may hold some bearing today as traditions and thought processes are handed down from one generation to the next.

Over a decade later, Reist (1975) discussed the work of Troelsch (1912), who acknowledged "historical individuality," but believed in the understanding and agreement of differing individuals. Despite this desire to agree and understand each other, as blacks and whiles, while remaining individuals, Reist

argued that the integration of the church ended with the growth of civil rights and the movement into the Black Revolution, which was a time of ethnic and racial liberation and separation. He felt that blacks desired voluntary separation due to the oppression of their culture by whites. This is in agreement with Frazier (1974) who argued that because slaves were "Christianized," their freedom brought about a strong desire to build separate church organizations in which they were free to have their own religious expressions without the watchful eye of the white man. Even with this desire of the black community to become united, Roberts (1980) in an in-depth study of the black church from a historical and theological view, found that there is not as much unity as there should be. He concluded that black families and churches must work together in uniting the black community and that failure to do so "appropriately and urgently...will hasten its own death" (p. 132).

It is clear from these results that outward integration issues have come a long way in the past 50 years, though, I would argue, there are probably more prejudiced attitudes in society than can be measured through non-verbal expressions than by outward racist actions. Ultimately, there is still progress to be made and research yet to be conducted for the continual progress and attempt to eradicate prejudices and racism in the church as well as other areas of society.

One such example of progress is a case study of the Minnesota Council of Churches (MCC) (Schoen, cited in Davies & Hennessee, 1998). In 1992, the Council, which was made up of 18 different denominations, decided to take

action toward eradicating racism (Schoen, cited in Davies & Hennessee, 1998). With goals, strategies and actions, the Council was successful conducted antiracism seminars for 283 congregations and 66 other organizations. In 1989, Milwaukee's Interfaith Conference designed a similar program called Beyond Racism. The program was based around the need for multicultural dialogues with congregations, ministerial associations, neighborhood groups and denominational staff (Holloman & Murtaugh cited in Davies & Hennessee, 1998). Additionally, the program hosted retreats, educational seminars and children's camps. The program organizers concluded that participants grew in their understanding of the "cost of racism" (p. 47) and were able to "enter one another's worlds and have, therefore, seen the realities and effects of racism in new ways" (Holloman & Murtaugh, quoted in Davies & Hennessee, 1998, p. 48). They also found that the dialogues were effective in that they allowed for an initial "interest in participating at a deeper level" in race relations (Holloman & Murtaugh, quoted in Davies & Hennessee, 1998, p. 48). Despite some research on church segregation and some progress toward church integration, it is apparent that there is plenty of work yet to be done. More recently, DeYoung, Emerson, Yancey &Kim (2003) argue that, "when possible congregations should strive to become multiracial, but this view is not held universally and certainly not widely practiced" (p. 96). This is true, yet it is crucial to continue to understand and break down the causes for church segregation and solutions toward church integration.

Media and Religion

"Many of the social institutions and patterns of everyday life with which we are now so familiar, assumed their present forms in the four decades between 1880 and 1920. Their development was inextricably tied up with the growth of modern media" (Murdock, 1982, p. 40).

For many years the media has held a large degree of power in our society and the ability to influence and affect individuals as well as societies at large (Hall, 1982). Though we may not initially look to the media as an influence in church segregation, and it has yet to be considered in the literature about church segregation, there is literature concerning the media's power and its role in our socialization. And more specific to this study, there is an existing body of literature on the topic of media and religion. Rosengren, Johnson-Smaragdi and Sonesson (1994) found that mass media intake contributes to the shaping of young peoples' live both presently and in the future. They posit that in aspects of socialization such as shaping beliefs, values and opinions, young people often look to the mass media (Rosengren et. al., 1994). In agreement with this, Miegel (1994) states:

There is no doubt that popular culture and the mass media constitute leading sources from which young people receive the images and ideas that they use in their identity and lifestyle work. The mass media, therefore, have an important role in agents of socialization and as transmitters of values, norms and attitudes, something which obviously has considerable impact on the importance of the role of the family in the process of socialization (p. 283).

As an institution so prevalent and powerful in our society, the media have the potential to be a source of both positive and negative influence in our lives.

The mass media socialize us to know what kind of people are important and dictate and show us how to create our dreams such as being beautiful and

powerful (Johnson-Smaragdi & Jönsson, 1994). These dreams however are often unobtainable and can lead to a negative self-image if left unfulfilled (Johnson- Smaragdi & Jönsson, 1994). In a study by Steele and Brown (1995), 27 teens were interviewed about media in their everyday lives. They concluded that teens select, interact with and apply media to their daily lives, thus it plays a role in shaping their identities. However the researchers did note that because the media are so present and constant in everyday activities, it makes for a complex relationship (Steele & Brown, 1995). Because the relationship is so complex and such a constant in our daily lives, it is difficult to determine the depths of the effects that the media have on our identity, socialization and all aspects of our society including the church.

Though it has not been studied in abundance, some literature does exist on media and religion. Schultze (2003) posits:

The mass media in America were grounded in the particularly Protestant notion that communication, including the press, had the power to change people, to beneficially altar their perspective, and to usher them into a new community of shared hope (p. 10).

It is true that religion and mass media have been in a partnership of sorts since the 1830s with mass printing of the Bible and other religious materials (Schultze, 2003). Today, of course, the Christian community has advanced its media outlets significantly to venues such as televangelists and church web sites. Despite the roots and presence of religion in the media, the secular media has a tremendous presence in society as well. So much so that today, as Shaw (1999) argues, stories about life and value systems are more frequently told by and learned from the media rather than our families, churches and schools. Newman (1996) posits

that the conflict between media and religion lie not only in the discussion of which is the moral educator, but also in the debate of both religion and the media acting as businesses attempting to manipulate society for their political and economic agendas. These debates will most likely continue as both the media and religion play a role in the formation of cultures (Newman, 1996).

Though much of the research concerning media and religion position the two against each other, Hoover and Clark (2002) argue that the two are converging rather than remaining separated by clear-cut boundaries. The idea is to prompt communities and individuals to be active in the construction of meaning rather than focusing on "social structure, or institutions, or formal claims about meanings and values" (Hoover & Clark, 2002, p. 2). So rather than feeling overwhelmed or bombarded with messages and images, individuals need to take steps toward understanding the messages and creating their own meanings from the output surrounding them. Schement & Stephenson (1996) agree that the line between the mass media and religion will continue to cross over and become less clear-cut with time. Although, this concept of the convergence of media and religion is a new idea, there seems to be a growing trend toward the idea of taking an active role in understanding and constructing meaning in the media (Shaw, 1999). The Center for Media Literacy in Los Angeles is one such place that is putting these concepts into action (Shaw, 1999). The center, incorporated in 1989 aims to do the following:

Dedicated to promoting and supporting media literacy education as a framework for accessing, analyzing, evaluating and creating media content, CML works to help citizens, especially the young, develop critical thinking and media production skills needed to live fully in the 21st century

media culture. The ultimate goal is to make wise choices possible (medialit.org).

The need and existence for institutes such as this, demonstrate the impact of the media and our need to effectively interpret it.

Knowing what we do about the effect of the media on all aspects of our life, I argue that the potential role that the media play in church segregation is an area that should be explored, as media are a constant in our everyday lives. As early as 1967, Barbour wrote:

Our world of instant communication conveys to each of us—in city, town, suburb, or open country—every facet of the issues and confrontations in race. We may not have the minority members living near us, but our lives are interrelated through mass media (p.18).

If a "world of instant communication" could be claimed in 1967, it is obvious that we are only making this more true each day and that our instant relations are far greater today with the continuing growth of mass media. If we are not involved in interracial communication, this lack of interaction can lead us to learning about one another through the mass media, thus leading to stereotypes that can further perpetuate segregation.

One study involving these stereotypes was conducted by Means

Coleman's (2000). The study involved back and white participants and their

opinions on black sitcom characters. Several participants noted that there are not

enough portrayals of black families going to church. Some participants also

mentioned that when a black church is depicted on television and in movies, it

presents a stereotypic view of loud shouting and dancing. Perhaps it is these

negative depictions or lack of media depictions of Christians altogether that is a contributing factor to church segregation, or perhaps, it is the other way around.

The media may also be a factor in church segregation due to the unlimited access of information through the Internet and the speed at which the mass media deliver messages. The Internet allows church segregation to continue as many hate groups and Christian Identity supporters have websites, allowing them to quickly and inexpensively distribute their information to the masses and perpetuate segregation on some level (Apple & Messner, 2001). Due to the lack of scholarship relating the media to church segregation, this study will also explore the opinions of church leaders in regard to the media's influence. As Gros (quoted in Davies & Hennessee, 1998) states, there is still a significant need for research regarding church segregation.

Despite the dramatic strides that have been made, the churches remain divided, and among these divisions racism remains a scandal to the Christian gospel and to the biblical doctrine of the church. Theological discussions and congregational study need to be intensified to provide their appropriate contribution to a nonracial communion of Word and Sacrament. These studies raise significant questions for scholars, church leader, educators, and anyone who takes on the responsibility of Christ's cross in baptism (p. 126).

Research Questions

RQ1: How do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive the racial makeup of their church and the Christian church at large?

RQ2: What do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African

American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive as the cause(s) for church segregation?

RQ3: Do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive the media as an influence in church segregation?

CHAPTER 3

THEORY AND METHODS

Standpoint Theory

Each of us holds viewpoints on issues in the world around us that stem from our life experiences. We will form opinions based on what we know, have been taught or from the position that we find ourselves within our society. In essence, our societal standings will determine how we view the world in comparison to those individuals in differing societal positions (Allen, 1998). Acknowledging these different viewpoints, this thesis draws on standpoint theory.

According to Orbe and Harris (2001),

Standpoint theory is based on the premise that our perceptions of the world around us are largely influenced by social group membership. In other words, our set of life experiences shape-and are shaped by-our membership with different cultural groups like those based on sex, race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, and so on...In explicit and implicit ways, our standpoints affect how we communicate as well as how we perceive the communication of others. Acknowledging the standpoint of different social groups, then, is an important step in effective communication (p.13).

Thus it is crucial that we understand racial standpoints in order to communicate with high levels of effectiveness.

The origins of standpoint theory are largely rooted in the difference between men and women in their worldviews (Hartsock, 1983, Harding, 1987). In addition, as Pels (1996) suggests, standpoint theories also have primary origins in Marxist and Machiavellian epistemologies. Marxist standpoint on class positioning in societies sets the framework for what standpoints are based upon today. In regard to Machiavellian origins, Pels (1996) explains:

The common point of departure inherited from classical standpoint thinking is the conviction, already clearly supported by Machiavelli, that in a hierarchically structured and conflict-ridden society 'you cannot see everything from everywhere.' In such a society, there are objectively opposed locations generating disparate social experiences, which in turn define divergent, partial viewpoints with variable chances of faithfully representing social reality (p. 66).

Within society's hierarchy, especially racial hierarchy, "widespread" viewpoints are limited to those of the dominant groups, thus presenting an inaccurate "reality."

Scholars such as Harding (1987, 1991), Hartsock (1983), Collins (1986, 1989, 1990), and Smith (1987) have conducted a significant amount of research using feminist standpoint theory. These studies aim to give a voice to women, considered one of society's marginalized groups. They believe that, as societies are organized in a hierarchy of power, only a partial view is provided, which again paints only a biased interpretation of the realistic makeup of those societies (Hartsock, 1983).

Feminist standpoint theory is based on several tenets. First, each individual's life experience will contribute to their understanding of life and the world, thus those with the least power and those with the most will have opposing viewpoints (Swigonski, 1994). Groups of lesser power must develop their standpoint through education. She asserts that, "Without conscious effort to reinterpret reality, without political consciousness, marginalized populations are likely to accept the dominant worldview" (p. 391). Thus is it crucial to be aware and well-educated in order to challenge the dominant viewpoint. Another tenet of feminist standpoint theory is the difference of perspectives developed through

daily life experiences between dominant and marginalized group members. This everyday life experience as a marginalized group member outside of the dominant group acts as an appropriate viewpoint for research, presenting a perspective that may otherwise go unnoticed (Swigonski, 1994). Finally, marginalized group members are seen as "valuable strangers to the social order" and not always simply as outsiders, but "outsiders within" (Swigonski, 1994, p. 392). The term "outsiders within" does not apply only to women. Though much of the original research utilizing standpoint theory, is rooted in a desire to give voice to women, there is not a large difference in standpoint theory and feminist standpoint theory. Both are concerned with whose voices are being heard.

More recent studies that utilize standpoint theory go beyond women and address other marginalized groups such as racial/ethnic minority groups and gays and lesbians (Neilsen, 1990; Rich, 1980). The recurring theme of alienation and being the "stranger within" (Pels, 1996) is a cornerstone of standpoint theory showing the importance of understanding and giving voice to those in non-dominant societal positions. Standpoint theorists (Harding, 1991; Hartsock, 1983) articulate that individuals who belong to marginalized groups must learn survival skills to dealing with dominant perspectives of class, race, gender, etc., as well as understanding their own perspectives. Swigonski (1994) describes this process as double vision or double consciousness. Since knowledge, sensitivity, and awareness of both their own and the dominant worldview must be learned by members of marginalized groups.

There is significant scholarship focusing on black feminist standpoint theory, which specifies the voice of black women. Collins (1986), the leading scholar on black feminist thought, asserts that individuals who have lived through vulnerable experiences are far more credible about those experiences than those who have not participated in such experiences of marginalization. She concludes that dominant groups have even greater power as they minimize subordinate groups' access to knowledge (Collins, 1990). Additionally, she argues that outsiders, struggling with being between two groups, are able to be more objective in their observations (Collins, 1986).

Standpoints are not only used in the understanding of our own lived experiences, but also in how we see others' experiences both in real life situations as well as in the media's portrayals. In their audience study of the film *Imitation of Life*, Harris and Donmoyer (2000) found that the participants' views and standpoints regarding the film and its depiction of racial, gender and gendered/racial stereotypes varied in accordance to their lived experiences. The film depicts two single mothers, one African American and one European American, who become friends and roommates as they are raising their daughters in New York in the 60s. Two of the four participants in the study were African American women while two were European American. One of the women saw the film through her identity as a Christian, while others based their opinions on race or gender. They each used a different lens to view, relate to and interpret the film and its characters (Harris & Donmoyer, 2000). This is one study that

shows how standpoints of race and gender may factor into opinions and our individual views of race and our own cultural identity.

Standpoint theory is also used in the literary analysis of Jamaica Kincaid's novel Lucy, in which a black, Caribbean female lives her life as an "outsider within" (Lenz, 2004). The character of Lucy is one who is trying to find her identity as a young woman raised in Antiqua by her authoritative mother while living in New York as a maid/nanny. She relates to her employer to a certain degree, but never feels like "one of the family", yet at the same time, she does not want to identify with her mother and past life in Antiqua (Lenz, 2004). The book reflects, "Lucy's deliberate attempts to reaffirm her outsider within status, aligning herself with neither her subjugated past identity nor with her present opportunities to internalize dominant ideologies" (p. 110). Throughout the book and according to reviews, the questioning of how standpoints are developed as well as the processes of defining identity and the realizations of authority are analyzed (Lenz, 2004). This book is a literary outlet for discovering standpoints and intercultural relationships as it explores Lucy's life and gives voice to her identity struggles as a black, Caribbean woman in a Eurocentric society.

Orbe and Harris (2001) use the differing opinions of African American and European Americans toward the O.J. Simpson trial as a means for exemplifying intercultural use of standpoint theory. They posit that while most African Americans could see the perspective of O.J.'s innocence, most European American's did not consider this possibility, and thought him to be guilty. This is an example of the dominant perspective versus the non-dominant and how race

can play a role in how we perceive our lived experiences as well as what we see in the lives of others through the media. Orbe and Harris (2001) also cite the work of Carbaugh (1998) on differing communication styles for various groups. Carbaugh found that Native Americans, when communicating with elders, utilize silence differently than do European Americans. We can imagine how this one aspect of communication between these two cultures could create misunderstanding or misinterpretations, thus underpinning the complexities of lived experiences and cultural values, which shape our standpoints. Both of these examples demonstrate the span of standpoint theory in understanding non-dominant groups, in that they are both showing a perspective differing from the dominant European-American perspective. They show the span of standpoint theory as far as perceptions of media and the justice system and communication styles, verbal or non-verbal.

Critics have pointed out the limitations of standpoint theory. For instance, Janack (2001) argues that "epistemic privilege", the privilege that the dominant group possesses and "epistemic authority", the authority that members of the dominant group posses, need not be linked. The idea is to move from the linking of the two toward a questioning of the authority, political practices and justifications that uphold the exclusions of marginalized group voices and for the theorists and researchers to ask what can be done to make changes in getting those voices heard and into a position where they hold some authority along with other groups (Janack, 2001).

Another limitation is the difficulty of giving voice to a specific group, while simultaneously avoiding the notion of the group's thoughts being homogeneous. In a critique of Harding's standpoint epistemology, Pohlhaus (2002) concludes that:

...while drawing our attention to knowledge as a socially situated process, standpoint theory is not social *enough*. That is, in emphasizing my relations with others as where I stand in opposition to particular aspects of the social order, my knowing is still an individual knowing (albeit of an individual in relation)...Thus, I suggest that while noting where individuals stand in relation to others is important, more emphasis needs to be placed on how diverse *communities* may move together in knowing relations with the world...Our question concerning how to understand the world more objectively will require us to ask, not how I might see from a particular standpoint, but rather how I may move with (or forge) new knowing communities (p. 292).

In sum, Pohlhaus warns that a danger of standpoint epistemology is that we must not forget to emphasize shared meanings, even as we learn from a previously silenced voice. There needs to be recognition of differing individuals within these groups, allowing for diverse voices in the "new knowing community" for everyone's benefit and progression. In addition, scholarship needs to be open to new ways of thinking and knowing stemming from these groups.

But finding that commonality is also difficult. Collins (1997) argues that using standpoint theory trying to give a common voice to racially or economically oppressed groups makes more sense than trying to give all women one voice. Her argument is that there is no place where black and white women all live together and work together and are facing oppression together. That is, there are neighborhoods segregated along racial and economic lines, but rarely or never are neighborhoods segregated in terms of gender. So where it is common to see

neighborhoods of all blacks, whites, Latinos, Asians or poor people, giving them a shared experience, we do not often see an all female neighborhood that allows them to share this experience. This is not to say that racialized experiences always override those of gender, but simply that where standpoint theory is concerned, it is easier for scholars to give a more homogeneous and communal voice to racially or economically oppressed groups due to a greater shared experience in general than that of women.

Pel's (1996) critique of Harding's work discussed the tensions between trying to be heard in a society and participating in a sort of voluntary alienation due to a desire to keep one's racial or ethnic identity. He argues:

In a distinct sense, therefore, theory also liberates from standpoints: the 'correct' consciousness opens up to the 'correct' standpoint, even if one 'naturally' occupies an 'incorrect' one. Theory provides an alienative methodology, a procedural code of distanciation, which in principle is accessible for all of rational or emancipatory good will. Once again we are returned full circle to the methodological voluntarism which standpoint theory started out to combat (p. 73).

Though it is important to find a standpoint and voice in society, it also makes the feminist, black, lesbian, etc. lens strange and unfamiliar to the dominant group. What Harding argued is that because the dominant viewpoint is seen as the "norm," to present another way of thinking automatically makes it "other." And while this does give voice to non-dominant worldviews, it still does not allow them to be placed as the status quo, thus the comparison to the dominant thought processes and the perpetuated cycle of being heard, but perhaps still not valued.

Though shortcomings and criticisms of the standpoint theory do exist, it is important for scholars to continue to critique and modify theories and to take

them into new directions for differing outcomes. "[Standpoint theory] recognizes that there are no perfect or universal answers (or questions). But, even in the face of these constraints, we must nonetheless struggle to understand, to ask our questions, and to listen to each other" (Swigonski, 1994, p. 390).

The fact that standpoint theory is being used more frequently "as a framework for studying race relations" (Orbe & Harris, 2001, p. 13) makes its usage appropriate for this study of religious leaders' perspectives on church segregation. Additionally, I believe that Pohlhaus' (2002) recommendation for shifting toward "knowing communities" is exactly what the church is capable of being and doing for the whole of society. I believe that this suggestion to shift toward gathering communal viewpoints is possible in this study by first studying the individual voices of the various church leaders through standpoint theory. Then an opportunity to discover this collective voice and collective themes concerning church integration can be better established and utilized. The church is a community, like any other, with shared beliefs and values, yet with many individual voices that need to be heard. It also is a huge network because there are thousands of churches all over the world, which gives it a position of power in terms of size and presence. So, if the Christian community became a "knowing community" in terms of racial issues and worked toward true integration by listening to each others individual standpoints, I believe that it could accomplish a lot in terms of being a source of positive influence for integration for the whole of society. Standpoint theory lends itself to this study also because there are certain assumptions and stereotypes associated with Christianity, but rarely are

individual voices heard within or outside of the Christian community. I think that establishing varying views and creating a dialogue within the community can further a consensus on issues such as segregation and perhaps eventually establish a stance and lead to progressive action. If the church's standpoint via the standpoint of individual voices became forward thinking and active in eliminating segregation within the Christian community, perhaps it could have an influence enough to affect other societal institutions.

This research and other interracially-based research is necessary because "the degree of racial segregation between Blacks and Whites as *groups* is routinely underestimated" (Collins, 1997, p. 376). I think that this underestimation and ignoring of segregation in so many institutions of our society is a reality that should be on the forefront of investigation, giving light to this troubling truth.

Method: In-Depth Interviews

To investigate questions concerning the perceptions of Christian church leaders regarding segregation within the church as a whole, I conducted in-depth interviews with church leaders from three different churches in the Athens community—a predominantly African American church, a predominantly white church and a church with a more racially diversified congregation. The congregations were Baptist, Assembly of God and Church of God, respectively, though denomination was not a factor in this study. Three leaders were interviewed from the predominantly African American church, four from the predominantly white church and three from the racially diverse church, totaling

ten interviews.¹ Each interview was 45-90 minutes long. A church leader in this study is defined as any person who currently holds any type of direction, management or guidance position in the church. This person can be a pastor, pastor's wife, director of a specific ministry (i.e, music, youth, adults, etc.), deacon, church board member, etc. I interviewed four pastors, three pastor's wives (one of which is also a church secretary and another is a music teacher at the church), a youth leader, a deacon and a teacher at one of the church's childrens programs.

To obtain participants, I contacted the leaders of the church that I regularly attend in Athens, which served as the racially diverse church. From this initial contact, I used the snowball sampling technique, getting names of other church leaders from my initial contact, to obtain the other seven participants from both a black and a white church. My thought was that this methodology and the selection of the three different churches, by use of snowball sampling, in the same geographical location would allow for a good basis of comparing and contrasting attitudes, beliefs and opinions. Additionally, because racial tensions seem to be more prevalent in the South between blacks and whites (Maffly-Kipp, 2004), I thought that the geographical location of this study would be beneficial to the topic under exploration.

Priest (1996) defines in-depth interviewing as, "an open-ended conversational exploration of an individual's world view or some aspect of it" (p. 26). Because this research aimed to examine church leaders' worldview in regard to segregation within the Christian community and their perceptions of the

¹ Kvale (1996) argues that the number of in-depth interviews for a study like this one should be 15±10.

media's possible impact, I believe that in-depth interviews provide an appropriate methodology for this study.

As a researcher, it was crucial to keep in mind that "people do not always say what they think or mean what they say," (Jensen, 2002, p. 240), which is why it was important for me to be able to develop the most effective interview guide from which to pull information from the participant. In this research, the topic of racial segregation could cause some participants to "hold back" in their responses, but I tried to prevent this as best I could by developing a strong rapport with the participants and by an effective presentation of the questions in regard to wording, phrasing, order and specific tone and demeanor.

Rapport was critical to the interviewing process. Lindlof and Taylor (2002) describe rapport as "a quality of a communication event, not of a relationship" and posit that it "begins with the researcher's clarity of purpose" (p. 189).

Demeanor, professional appearance and self-disclosure in terms of the researcher's intentions also contribute positively to building rapport. In addition, active listening was extremely crucial to building rapport and to the entire interviewing process (Lindlof & Talyor, 2002). This development of rapport was especially important in dealing with the often private or sensitive topics of race and religion. For example, in Frankenberg's (1993) study of white women and their various experiences with race and racism, she made certain to handle the subject carefully and to share some of her own experiences as a white female in order to build trust and a common ground with her participants. Further, it was important to remember that "our identities as male/female, black/white,

younger/older researchers crucially affects the research encounters and the openness, or otherwise, of our respondents and interviewees" (Gray, 2003).

The interviews for this study were conducted at the churches either in the participant's office, the sanctuary or in a church classroom. Each participant received and signed two consent forms (see Appendix B); I kept one copy and gave them the other copy. Each interview was also audio recorded. After conducting the interviews, I transcribed them, and each participant was assigned a pseudonym (see Appendix A) for confidentiality purposes. Following the transcription process, I analyzed the data in light of standpoint theory. This process involved several read-throughs of the transcripts in which I attempted to find themes that were determined by frequency (Lindolf & Taylor, 2002). When a possible theme arose, I searched the other transcripts to find that same theme. When the themes were established, I was able to piece together the analysis.

In summary, this study draws on standpoint epistemology and uses indepth interviews to explore church leaders' perceptions of segregation in the Christian church and the possible influence of the media in this process.

CHAPTER 4

ANALYSIS

This chapter is organized into the themes that emerged during the analysis of the transcripts. The five themes are (1) percentage discrepancies; (2) justifications for racial makeup of congregation and "othering;" (3) fear, lack of understanding and the need for dialogue; (4) perceptions of the media's role regarding church segregation; and (5) responsibility of pastors. Through quotations of several participants, viewpoints on each of the themes will be discussed. Not all of the participants are quoted for each theme. Analysis of each theme is dispersed among the quotations.

Pseudonyms are used throughout the analysis and a brief description of each participant is included in Appendix A. The participants from the predominantly African American church are all African American and listed under the names of Douglas, Anna and Henry. The participants from the predominantly European American church are Patrick, Jane and Debbie, who are all European American, and Nicole, who is African American. Two of the three participants from the more racially diverse church are European American, Beverly and Brad, and the third participant, Chris, is African American (see Table 1).

Table 1:

Church	Participant	Race
Predominantly	Douglas	African American
African American	Anna	African American
	Henry	African American
Predominantly	Patrick	European American
European American	Jane	European American
	Debbie	European American
	Nicole	African American
Racially Diverse	Beverly	European American
	Brad	European American
	Chris	African American

Perceptions of Congregation's Racial Makeup

Each of the participants was asked to describe, using percentages, the racial makeup of their church. There were important discrepancies in the participants' perceptions of the percentage of non-white congregants. In the predominantly white church Debbie estimated the percentage of non-whites to be 20 percent. Patrick said, "...we're talking about somewhere probably in the range of about 30 percent, 27 or 30 percent." In contradiction to those percentages, Jane described the congregation as "majority white, middle class," and estimated the percentage of non-whites to be 1 to 2 percent. Finally, Nicole did not give a percentage, but actually counted the number of non-whites, coming up with a total of 15 individuals. The congregation total is approximately 150 and has 15 individuals who are non-white would only account for 10 percent of the

congregation, a lower number than those reported by Debbie and Patrick. The fact that Nicole counted the congregation's minority members suggests that the other participants' higher estimates are inaccurate.

Interestingly, if these percentage estimations are influenced by our racial standpoints, I had to consider why one of the white leaders interviewed at the predominantly white church had a perception so different from the other two white leaders in this church. I found it interesting that Jane, who perceived one to two percent non-white congregants, holds a less prominent leadership role, more of a volunteer role than that of Patrick or Debbie, who perceived a much higher percentage of non-whites. As a less visible leader, Jane may have a less skewed opinion or be less likely to have an embellished perception of the racial make-up of the congregation. On the other hand, she may be more likely to have a skewed perception, as she is perhaps not as actively involved as a leader on a daily basis. Another point of interest is Jane's stating, "...I personally would not go to a church that did not have other races. I've never gone to a church that only was one race." For her to make this bold statement of personally valuing churches that have races other than her own, one might think that she would seek out a congregation that had more non-whites than one to two percent. It seems that either her estimation is off, having a small percentage of diversity is sufficient for her, or like the other white participants, she sees even the small percentage as making a big difference in terms of diversity.

Analyzing this predominantly white church as a micro-society, we can speculate that the racially hierarchical power structure paints only a partial view

of the realistic makeup (Hartsock, 1983). Standpoint theory tells us that people outside of the dominant group develop more realistic perceptions and viewpoints from their lived experiences as marginalized individuals than those in the dominant group (Swigonski, 1994).

A similar pattern of percentage discrepancies and varied views was found while interviewing the participants at the more racially diverse church. Beverly did not venture a guess regarding the percentage, but did mention seeing "lots of different kinds of faces in the congregation." Brad said:

The church is about 25 percent black and 75 percent white, and that has grown in the past 12, 15 months since we hired a black pastor on staff. Um, it was always, it was probably about 15 percent prior to him, but we've probably grown another 10 percent, and I think a lot of that was because of him. One of my goals was to create a church that was reflective of Heaven, and Heaven is gonna be red, yellow, black and white, and I don't have anything against all white or all black churches, but I don't think they're a reflection of Heaven.

Chris, the black pastor to whom Brad referenced, said that, "the percentage of non-whites in the congregation is growing, I'll just say that it's growing...Right now I'd say it's about five percent...when I first got here it was like one percent." The fact that he used the phrase, "I'll just say" suggests that perhaps there was more that he wanted to say but did not, either for privacy issues or due to discomfort.

The discrepancy between Chris' five percent and Brad's twenty-five percent is significant, but both leaders have seen the growth since the intentional hiring of a non-white pastor. However, Brad estimated 15 percent non-whites and Chris estimated only 1 percent at the beginning of Chris' work when he was intentionally hired for purposed of diversity as the non-white pastor. Each of the

three participants from this church stated at some point during the interview that hiring a non-white pastor was intentional to increase racial diversity within their church, thus acknowledging some degree of segregation in their church and their intention to remedy this.

There were no percentage discrepancies in the African-American church, as all three participants acknowledged that their congregation is 100 percent African-American. This theme of percentage discrepancies in the racial makeup of congregations of the other two churches however, suggests an interesting contradiction. Even though the participants are involved with the same congregation, that is, they "see" and work with the same group of people, it is important to note that their perceptions of that group vary. This could be the cause of poor estimation, but more likely varying perceptions of dominant and non-dominant group members are the cause of these percentage discrepancies. One of the premises of standpoint theory is that as life experience contributes to our understanding of the world, viewpoints of those with the least power and those with the most power will oppose one another (Swigonski, 1994).

Idealizing their Church's Racial Composition

In several instances throughout the interviewing process, participants tried to paint a picture of a more racially diverse church than the one depicted by their reported percentages. Several of the leaders interviewed tried to make known the "why" or tried to inform me of some facts that would position them as more diverse than it may look or be in reality. Though the leaders of the predominantly

African American church were all in agreement that the church was 100 percent African American, Anna did mention:

Actually, um, we did have a couple of whites to join um, where they're at, I'm not really sure, but I know that it was a young lady and her son had joined, but I hadn't seen them lately. And then we had a one of the mus, mus, I'm sorry musicians, he was a white man. And um so, they, I mean basically, I guess you could say predominantly black.

It is almost as though she felt compelled to let me know that white people were welcome and accepted in their congregation. Perhaps she wanted to justify what may be a "partial viewpoint" (Pels, 1996) that she thought I was getting from the percentage given. Douglas gave me a reason as to why he thought their congregation is all black, stating that it was because of a more rural location. Although this may be a factor, church segregation is still prevalent even in large cities, though I am sure that his standpoint as a minority in a rural location is a factor in his perceptions of the subject of church segregation and segregation in general.

Brad and Beverly, the two white leaders interviewed at the racially diverse church, also seemed to be justifying the racial makeup of the congregation by first mentioning the diversity of the Christian school and daycare, which is affiliated with the church and located on the same grounds. Beverly responded by saying:

"...the preschool and the academy here are the most racially diverse private schools in this area. The academy, which has about 60 children in grades K-5 is pretty close to um, half black and half white. The preschool, um, has, um, Chinese, quite a few Chinese children, Indian children, Hispanic children, many black children, many white children, even in one class you might have four or five ethnic groups represented. So other than the university preschool, it's probably also the most racially diverse. Um,

congregation, um, I wouldn't know percentages, but um, we certainly see lots of different kinds of faces in the congregation."

As she justified the element of diversity in the school, she avoided the question of the racial makeup of the church altogether. Though it is a positive point on diversity affiliated with the church, the racial makeup of the school and day care are not representative of, or connected to, the congregation itself.

Brad used a seemingly similar argument:

Um, let me, I'll give you the school and the church. Um, because we're much prouder of the school, the school is reflective of where we want to go with the church. Um, the school right now is about 40 percent black, about 40 percent white and about 10 percent Asian or Hispanic.

In contrast to Debbie's use of the school and daycare as substitutes for the church congregation, Brad mentions the school's and daycare's diversity as the goal to be achieved regarding the church's racial composition. It should be noted, however, that while both white leaders of this racially diverse church mentioned the diversity of the school, Chris, the black pastor, made no mention of it during our interview. This suggests that the white leaders may have felt the need to paint a more racially-diverse image of their church, while the African-American pastor did not.

Debbie, a leader at the predominantly white church, provides another example:

Um we do have a lot, a number of African Americans in our congregation on Sunday, and we have some international students from the university, some from the Philippines, some from Africa, and um, and we also have some people in our congregation, that are not students, that are also from other countries. We have one lady from Thailand. We have one from the Philippines, and we have a teacher from Kuwait; she and her family are here in our congregation.

Similar to the leader of the predominantly black church, Debbie's comments suggest the idea that when you put a handful of minority members in a setting among the majority, the whole group may be perceived as being more diverse than it actually is.

Some of the participants placed the responsibility for the lack of diversity on non-white shoulders:

Well um, (the church) is (segregated) to some extent. Some churches particularly, there are just white churches and just black churches and just Hispanic churches, that is definitely true in this city. Uh, in our particular church, it's not like that, you know it's pretty well mixed, but there are some you know Afro-Americans that do not feel comfortable except in their own church, even though they're invited to come here (Debbie).

Though Debbie recognizes that church segregation is a concern, she excludes her congregation from the problem, stating that "we try to bring them all together here on a regular basis," and reiterating that minority discomfort is an issue, "there's some that just don't feel comfortable, you know in a Caucasian church." In this way, Debbie illustrates Turner's (1982) argument: "People sustain their own positive social identity by comparing the in-group favorably to outgroups" (p.141). In other words, we will look for ways and reasons to justify our behavior and the behavior of our in-group as a means to feel validated.

Debbie's remarks also suggest "othering." This is wording that was used by some participants in a "we" versus "them" positioning. Keller (1985) describes this as a dichotomous thinking that categorizes people or things. It can be male/female, good/bad, black/white, etc. The implication is that there is something opposite with which to compare, which, in a sense, does not allow the one to exist without the juxtaposition against its opposite. By using the terms

"some" and "they" as in not us, Debbie makes clear that *they* are welcome and despite *our* efforts and *their* being invited, *they* just don't feel comfortable. Never does she reverse the situation, but it is always an "us" and "them" scenario. This dichotomous way of thinking, goes beyond just being different, but places the marginalized group as "other" thus objectifying the subordinate group (Collins, 1996). From her standpoint, she and her congregation reach out and have various international students and families. She sees that as sufficient.

In contrast, Brad noted that even though a lot of effort is being made toward unity and further diversifying his congregation, not enough is being done. In addition, Brad's comments break the "othering" trend by insisting, "It's not us and them; it's us."

Causes of Segregation in the Church

Throughout the interviewing process, participants gave their opinions on what they believe causes church segregation. There were numerous mentions of fear of stepping out and getting to know one another and lack of understanding between the two races as causes for church segregation, which were often likened to cultural differences and historical separations. Going along with those themes was the continued mention of the need for dialogue between the churches. Another proposed cause was fear of the "other," those who are different from us. The above themes were reiterated and are supported through the various participants' quotes.

Chris simply said, "people are afraid," while Brad commented, "we just don't know each other the way we should or could." In addition, Nicole commented:

I think (church segregation) is a huge problem, huge problem. It's a huge problem that dates back, what 300 years, and it's because of tradition and religiosity. There are black churches that will reject me; there are white churches that will reject me. And they'll reject me simply because I'm not traditional...And you know black churches have a way of doing things, white churches have a way of doing things, and because they're stuck in their patterns and traditions, it makes it very hard for a completely black community church to come together with a completely white church.

Nicole's statement highlights the rigid nature of racial perceptions and realities within the church, and how these are grounded in history. Nicole also shows an awareness of the debate between the integrationist and anti-integrationist thought process regarding the black church that she mentioned having learned about in a course she took while attending a her HBCU (Historically Black Colleges and Universities). She describes herself as not being "traditional," referring to the stereotypical images and cultural markings of a black Christian (Simms, 2000). She takes on the "outsiders within" (Swigonski, 1994, p. 392) mentality of being a minority leader in a predominantly white church. Though Nicole does mention her comfort in that church, she knows that it is not the norm and that because of her non-traditional role, she may not find acceptance in all churches, white or black.

Chris emphasized the role of preconceived notions and their ensuing fear in church segregation, noting that, "we have certain thoughts about other groups, we have certain fears about other groups just by our experiences what we've heard, you know like from others." He later added:

...we don't take the time out to, to get to know one another, we're so afraid to get to know one another and to see that, hey that person thinks more like I do, you know... what I see is just from day to day we don't want to get to know each another. This is how we do things, and this is how they do things, and wow they do that and they don't like us, or whatever it is.

This idea of not wanting to get to know one another comes from our life experiences, viewpoints and that our comfort zone includes mostly those who are like us (Jones, 2002). We carry certain racial and other prejudices and stereotypes that don't allow us to "step out of our comfort zone." Nicole said:

(God) said love your brother, he didn't say love your white brother or love your black brother. I see it as love everybody whether you know them or not, you know? And um, you treat them in love. Racism is just, it's just bondage. It is absolutely your mind being conformed to a way of thinking that died a long time ago. So, it's a huge problem (laughs). It's going to take a lot of prayer. But it's also going to take us to be willing to have our hearts changed. And um, not to approach people with stereotypes either.

Like Nicole, other participants acknowledged that racism is at odds with the teachings of Jesus. For instance, Patrick remarked:

There is not color; there is not creed; there is not up and out and the down and out. There is the, simply the fact that we are all the same. We must model that to the unsaved. Jesus said that there's something about us, that we are all one, and that we can exhibit harmony and not division.

He also added that, "We are all the same at the foot of the cross." Though there is truth to this, I think recognizing the cultural difference is important in order to better communicate. He did mention that "there is not color," but the fact is there is, and though it should not be a factor of segregation, it should be acknowledged. Orbe and Harris (2001) posit that we should value our racial and ethnic differences and reexamine our thought processes as opposed to attempting to "downplay or ignore" these differences. Interestingly, Nicole's

standpoint as a young black woman draws on the historical element of racism that she claims "died a long time ago." Unfortunately we know that this is not entirely true. Racism is still present in our society, and more than a mentality, racism is "the systematic subordination of certain racial groups by those in power" (Orbe & Harris, 2001, p. 6). In his interview, Patrick recognized these cultural differences by stating:

Uh, there is an enormous amount of segregation in a number of the corporate worship services, but there's also segregation in styles of worship; there's segregation in liturgy. There is segregation in those areas, and what we, what is sad to say is many times that the church is a reflection of society, and it's to be a reflection of the word of God. So just as much as in society we gather on points of common interest and commonality, we also find that in the church. People gather who have common interests, common color, common language, common identification.

Similarly, Brad said:

We have to learn how to deal with it because our two cultures are different, the black culture and the white culture, they're definitely different. Um, and music is definitely driving that, white folks to want to go to black churches and black folks to want to go to white churches; it's music, you know that's pulling them, and if that's going to happen, pastors, black pastors have to learn how to adapt and understand and counsel folks who are coming out of a white culture and vice-versa.

His standpoint as the pastor of a more racially diverse congregation and perhaps other experiences allow him to better recognize the differences. Though many Christians and non-Christians foster the belief that we are all one and all alike, which holds some truth, it is important to acknowledge our differences and allow them to be recognized, but not to separate us or to be fearful of them.

This leads to another proposed cause of church segregation, the lack of dialogue. Several of the participants mentioned the need for an open dialogue

among churches of differing races, despite the differences. Because once these differences are recognized and understood and not feared, we can then take the steps necessary to appreciate each others' standpoints and work from there.

Swigonski (1994) posits that we have to make concerted efforts to get to know one another and to listen. Brad had some suggestions for meeting the needs of a multiracial church:

...offering different levels of crisis intervention, having a black counselor on staff and a white counselor on staff that can meet the needs of whatever the cultural element that comes in. Um, doing, doing workshops on understanding one another, um we're just different, our two cultures are different, and no one can deny that. We're not the same, yeah, we have red blood, but that's about it, you know our cultures are as different as our skin is in many, many cases, and we don't know each other, you know?

This again shows his recognition of the cultural differences and the desire to approach them with open communication and a need for understanding, thus leading to the theme of dialogue. At the same time, his remarks illustrate the paradox underpinning church segregation, "we're not the same" but Christian beliefs tell us that we are.

Most of the leaders interviewed mentioned the importance of communication, at some point. The examples below represent opinions of participants from the predominantly black church, predominantly white church and the racially diverse church, respectively, about the importance of communication:

I think it would break some of these barriers if we did more talking and dialoged a little more on it. I think we could come together if we understood each other better. But right now we don't understand each other, and we don't fellowship enough to understand...We need to fellowship more and come together more and have dialogue. (Henry)

...we have got to come together as a church regardless of race, regardless of denomination. Um, we are supposed to be unified in the cross. So, opening the doors to each other, taking each other's phone calls, (laughs) yeah, would be great! (Nicole)

There needs to be more dialogue, absolutely. That's a big part of it, um we have got to be able to, I don't know how we can teach one another to trust one another, I guess we have to act in a way to trust each other. People just don't trust one another. (Chris)

These church leaders agree that interracial communication needs to occur in the Christian community in order to achieve unity. As stated by Orbe and Harris (2001), "Acknowledging the standpoint of different social groups, then, is an important step in effective communication (p.13)." As many of the leaders expressed, through discussion, a better understanding of each other's standpoints, which are shaped by life experiences, will be understood. (Orbe & Harris, 2001).

In the passage below, Brad discussed a conversation that he had with a black pastor and friend of another church in the area. He recounts the conversation and what he learned and came to realize about church segregation:

Um, but I had a black pastor here in town at a prominent black church, the prominent black church, said something to me that I didn't, I didn't want to believe. Um, but he um, he proved it to me, and that is he said that is that white folks love to hear a black man preach. White folks love to hear a black preacher, but a white man doesn't want to call a black man his pastor, and he said that's still an issue today, and I said that's not true and he said it is true, and I said it's not true, and I said we're past that, and he said well then why is T.D. Jakes (prominent black pastor) known as the greatest preacher in America? And his congregation is 25 thousand, 20,25 thousand strong, and you know maybe 5 or 6 hundred white people, maybe that many. And Rod Parsley, who is another big televangelist, you know maybe 10,15 thousand people in Columbus, Ohio, he's a white man, pastors a church with you know 10 or 15 thousand people and probably 3 or 4 thousand black folks. Um, because black people aren't afraid to call a white man their pastor, and white people still struggle to call a black man

their pastor. You know, you look over at Eddie Long in Atlanta and Creflo Dollar (both are prominent Black pastors), it's the same type of thing. You look at the larger white churches in Atlanta, and you have many, many more black people coming to the white churches and than white people going to the black churches.

Interestingly, in this interracial discussion, Brad initially does not want to believe this statement. In the beginning of the above passage, the two differing standpoints of the black and white pastors conflict. The roots of the standpoint theory tell us that because of societal hierarchies, we are only able to get a partial view of reality (Hartsock, 1983). In this case, Brad's perspective did not allow him to see outside of his dominant position, and it took dialogue and exposure to a minority standpoint for him to gain understanding of that differing viewpoint.

The participants recognized that much of church segregation is caused by fear of stepping out and getting to know people of different races and a lack of understanding of races other than our own as well as historical and cultural differences. There is a need for dialogue and interaction in order to build more unity among churches of different races. This unity is, however, a process that takes time given our history of racial and cultural differences that play into our fears and lack of understanding between racial groups.

The Media's Role

The themes of fear and lack of understanding contributing to church segregation have been established, but as a student of mass media, I found it interesting to note what the participants' thoughts were regarding the influence of the media on the church and church segregation. Kellner (1995) argues that

media images are a significant factor in our construction of "us" and "them." It is likely and common for us to take the stereotypical images in the media and determine what makes "them" different from "us." There is no denying that the media are influential players in our society. For many years the media have held a large degree of power in our society and the ability to influence and affect individuals as well as societies at large (Hall, 1982). These effects have been studied since the 1940s. In addition, the media's ideological work has also garnered the attention of media scholars (Hall, 1982). Meanwhile, the media continue to influence and create societal norms through power and a reinforcing of dominant paradigms and social constructions (Hall, 1982).

exposed to some form of media content. We are continually bombarded with messages from countless media outlets and sources and depend on these sources to keep us informed on current events and important happenings. But yet, as we all know, there are plenty of messages that are not-so-important, and thus we must filter as consumers of such a large volume of media messages. Even when we try to keep our "filters" on high, it is evident that we are indeed influenced by the media as they shape our social constructions. One of these social constructions is that of race. This is not to assume that all media content is racist, but there is no denying the presence of racism in the media either. Hall (1981) suggests some racist depictions are overt while others are inferential and will go unquestioned. This is true, and sadly it is not only the inferential depictions that go unquestioned, but sometimes the media's overt racist depictions as well.

If these racial stereotypes and ideologies are so accepted as the norm, then it is possible that these attitudes and actions are present in all areas of society, the church included.

When the topic of the media was discussed in the interviews, thoughts and opinions differed from participant to participant, as well as within each individual interview, indicating an internal conflict. Several participants struggled to find the line between Christian principles and their conflict with a lot of what the media depicts and how its influences go against these Christian values.

Conflicting opinions within and among participants were also present in trying to determine if the media does in fact play a role in church segregation. Finally, the question of whether the media influences society or society shapes the media was discussed by some participants.

Um, there are a lot of things that the media has [sic] to offer that conflicts with our, what the fundamentals of Christianity, and a lot of those fundamentals, I believe stem from the word of God. And I just think that a lot of what the media has [sic] to offer just contradicts that, but a lot of Christians have been lulled into this false sense of, hey that's just entertainment; it's just great. We can just continue to observe it, bring it into our homes, let our kids fall for it. To me that's just scary, cause it's very wrong. (Chris)

Chris' identity as a Christian gives him a view of the media that he compares to the word of God, and these two viewpoints conflict with one another. Patrick also vocalizes his conflicting opinions in terms of the media's power and influence.

...understanding that the spirit that is behind the media simply because it is not of the kingdom of God, it, by nature, would be of the kingdom of darkness, thus its authorship is one that would not be uh, uh in the kingdom of God. So we don't view it in an adversarial role...Uh, the media can bring us information, but the final report on what we believe is the word of God.

The above quote, of course, is of a Christian worldview, but Patrick later stated, "All that have influence have a level of responsibility, and they (the media) definitely have influence," when asked if the media held any responsibility for church segregation. Though he believes that the nature of the media is that of "darkness" and non-adversarial, he recognizes the influence and level of responsibility to some degree. Finally Patrick continues by stating:

The depravity of man and the fact that we've allowed our self-centeredness to become so commonplace in the church is more of a causal factor to the segregation. Whenever we become self-centered, we become prejudicial, and whenever we become prejudicial we become bigoted, and thus we entrench ourselves in those ways. I don't see that the media is a causal factor (for church segregation), I see the fact that our self-centeredness has caused it.

From one statement to the next, conflict over the degree of power and influence the media have on the church and church segregation is exhibited in the participants' conflicting views. Interestingly, several of the participants went through what seemed like an internal conflict of sorts in knowing that the media is influential and powerful, but wanting to hold strong to the power of God's word as a Christian leader. Debbie made the two following comments:

Um, we want (the media) to tell the truth. So I guess you know we're looking for truth, we're looking for truth, and maybe sometimes we feel that it doesn't always tell sometimes the truth.

Well, because of our Christian standards um, we probably do not watch some things that other people would watch concerning particular television programs or um, you know or that type of thing. As far as news or newspapers or things of that nature, you know, we pretty much read whatever, you know I think, read newspapers, Christians and non-Christians would both read the newspaper and we would listen to the news and that type of thing. But I think particular programs on television or in movies that we feel that would go against our standards we may not watch.

Though she does not directly discuss the media's influence, she alludes to it by saying that there are certain programs that Christians may not watch due to "standards." but her wording leads to the implications that she believes there is a strong power in the media, otherwise why would consuming or not consuming it make a difference? In fact, the recognition of the media's influence in the Christian community is so apparent that Jane even mentioned owning a satellite system called Sky Angel, which is a Christian-based programming of 36 radio and TV channels, aimed to control the intake of "negative influences" in the media (Sky Angel at a Glance, 2005). Other all-Christian media stations are present as well, such as Trinity Broadcasting Network (TBN), and I think this shows the efforts of some in the Christian community to not only reach more people through these outlets, but to give an alternative to the mainstream media and its persuasions. Again, many of the participants seemed to be conflicted on what they believe is appropriate and in-line with the values and principles of Christianity and what should be avoided in the media.

For his part, Douglas depicts the conflict possibly felt by many Christians regarding media intake. "Christians should view the media from a very spiritual eye...you better get in the mainstream and find out what's going on at the same time keep that spiritual eye and that ear that you can be discerned." Brad agrees that Christians should view the media differently than non-Christians, but said he has read studies showing that they don't. Nicole also had conflicting thoughts on the media:

The division, as long as we in the media stay divided, we as a people are going to stay divided. And um, there's the black stations, the white

stations, and it's sad. It's just so sad (laughs) 'cause that's just not the type of world we live in. But like you have the white side of town, the black side of town, especially here in the south.

The interviewee says that the division in the media is "not the type of world we live in," yet in the following sentence she makes reference to the segregation of society. It is notable that many of the leaders tried to subconsciously work though the question of whether it is society's influencing the media or the media influencing society.

I don't think that the media portrays reality; I think that society portrays what they see on the media... I think that society is taking on the image of the media, not, for the most part, media is taking on the image of society. I think that the media's driving it, not following it. (Brad)

Brad later states:

I believe that when the church allows the media to begin governing our potential, our mandate, well then we look to the wrong source. I think we've got to be bigger than that. We've got to have a greater influence than the media has in the lives of people over their conscience. I don't think that it should, does that make sense?

Interviewer: Right, so you don't think that (the media should contribute to racial segregation), but you don't really think that it does too much either?

I think that it does, um, I think, I think it does because I think that the media somewhat segregates society, and because the church is a part of society, then it just follows suit...to an extent it does just because the church is a part of society. The church is full of people who are, who live in this mass society that is influenced by the media... It's the most influential force in our world. So, it has to affect it some, there's no way that it couldn't that I could see. Um, but it, but it shouldn't. And what I'm saying is that as church leaders we're called to be bigger than that. You know, we can't afford ourselves to be influenced by the media and accept it as the norm. Um, so my position is that the church on Earth is to reflect the church in Heaven, and um it doesn't right now, it doesn't. The church is one of the most segregated places in our community every Sunday morning. It is.

Here we see Brad trying to differentiate between the influences of the media on all aspects of our society, but also trying to fight that influence as a Christian.

Again, this struggle seems to be one expressed by many of the participants. The media's power and influence cannot be ignored or denied, nor should it be.

Instead, it should be acknowledged, understood and dealt with by whatever standards the individual chooses. Similarly, acknowledging and understanding the cultural differences, in terms of how blacks and whites are socialized into church culture, is also necessary. Both of these issues are realities and seem to have some level of influence in regard to church segregation, but if Christians are not aware of and do not understanding them, it is difficult to proceed toward unifying the church.

In contrast to some participants' conflicting views regarding the media, other participants firmly stated that they do not see the media as influential in church segregation. Both Debbie and Chris recognize the media's influence in some areas, but do not see it as influential in regard to church segregation. They, instead, saw people's upbringing and cultural differences as contributors to segregation. Debbie stated:

I wouldn't think (church segregation) has anything to do with the media. I think it would have more to do with people. Peoples' individual families and cultures that they've grown up in...But I would say peoples' prejudices and peoples' ideas about other ethnic groups have more to do with their up-bringing than with any responsibility of the media.

Chris stated:

...we don't take the time out to, to get to know one another, we're so afraid to get to know one another and to see that, hey that person thinks more like I do. You know? And um, for me personally, I don't see the media um creating that problem for me. I just, what I see is just from day to day we

don't want to get to know each another. This is how we do things, and this is how they do things, and wow they do that and they don't like us, or whatever it is? And I don't think the media is really a huge problem with that right now.

Some of the leaders spoke of what the media does or does not do in terms of the church and religion:

...the media could bring (church segregation) front and center and put the ball in our lap where we would have to deal with it...by asking one simple question just one Saturday, how come y'all ain't together?...(The media) ought to be saying, well how come we can't bring the black churches and the white churches?

Douglas argues that because the media is such a source of influence, there are times when it could be using that influence to help the church or other aspects of society to unify. The media has the power to ask the questions of why something is or is not happening, and in the opinion of this leader, they should ask why the church is still so segregated. Nicole said that:

But as far as Headline News, CNN, Fox, no, they don't address religion, they won't address um, Supreme Court appeals against religion, but they don't address churches unless they have to with some Catholic priest molesting some young boy. It's all about the big story, especially when it's bad, but if it's anything good supporting religion, it normally isn't reported because they don't want they backlash of them supporting religion, church or God. And so um, that's kinda taboo for them. They don't wade in that water.

Henry disagreed and saw the media as "playing a big role in the church." He further stated:

The media can create a problem where there's not a problem, where there's not a greater problem, they can make it seem like it's a bigger problem than it is. The media plays a big role in how a lot of churches come together or stay apart, so they listen to the media, it's something you know, how they open, it's not a sacred thing. All they got to do is turn the TV on and get the news and how you receive this stuff is what makes it either, either it'll put a barrier there or create a barrier, or it'll take down

some barriers. The media plays a big role in the church and in the community too.

The media can very easily create or destroy racial barriers in our society, and one leader of the predominantly black church saw racial unity in society, regardless of media influences. Anna stated:

Yeah, so I mean um, it's just that now I'm starting to see a lot, you know the different races coming together, um, regardless of what the media says or the television, you know, me personally, I'm starting to see more unity.

Chris felt that same way about seeing more racial unity, but thought it was due to a positive contribution of the media. He also believes that the media is not so much contributing to racial issues in the church, but is contributing negatively in other church-related aspects:

Again, I think the media is probably just reflective of what people have been doing for years, you know what I mean, if the media wasn't there, segregation would still be there, you know. It'd still be there. I think, if you really want to know, there are some shows and some documentaries that I think help to open the eyes of people, you know what I mean, more so than, than create segregation. I think they're being more sensitive toward things nowadays than they would be in the past... It's just other aspects of the media that bother me, and that's not one that usually sticks out to me as a problem.

Interviewer: What are some those other aspects that bother you?

Um, family life, that's one big thing that sticks out to me, right and wrong, just understanding what's right and wrong ,and then just again spiritual aspects. How much um anti-Christian, anti-Bible, anti-God themes that are there. Those worry me, even in the things that they preach to kids, you know?

Chris' opinion is in line with a year-long study by the Parent's Television Council (Eichenberg, 2004), which concluded that negative depictions of religion and

church far outweighed positive portrayals particularly concerning church doctrine and leaders.

Though not all of the participants interviewed saw a connection between the media and church segregation, most did agree that the media does, in fact, contribute to the shaping of our societal attitudes toward race on some level. The participants' conflicting opinions in terms of Christian principles versus the media's influence, the degree to which media does or should influence the Christian society and the question of media influencing society or society influencing media highlighted interesting and varied points, and I think these conflicts speak for themselves and give an indication of the media's true power.

Responsibility of Pastors

All of the participants in this study acknowledged the existence of church segregation and gave their views on the sources and contributors influencing the matter. The questions remain in my mind: "what can be done and where do we start? Throughout the interviews, participants pointed to themselves, the church leaders and church pastors, in particular, as the ones who need to be at the forefront of racial integration within the church. At this point, it is important to mention that in 1967, Barbour already wrote about the pastor's importance in matters of desegregation. The participants' statements suggest that this is still a concern.

Jane stated, "I think that there are some [leaders] that are concerned about [church segregation], and I think that there's some leadership that thinks that that's the way it ought to be." In the case of the racially diverse church, Brad

told of his purposeful plan to diversify his congregation by starting with the leaders:

I just really feel like the Lord told me, you better reflect on your platform what you want to see in your pews because the pew will always be reflective of the pulpit, and I knew that we had, I wasn't necessarily going for a black guy, but I was going for other, Hispanic, or Asian or Black, so that's kind of how we're taking it on, and we're growing on through it.

In interviewing Chris, who was hired specifically because he is non-white, according to both himself and Brad, I asked if race was a factor in his hiring. He replied, "absolutely." He also said:

...I had black churches offer me positions, and I said, you know what, I've been there, I've done that. And if we are to better understand how the white brother in our church feels, and how they think, and how they operate, we must cross the line.

Notably, both pastors recognized this need and agreed on the first step which is toward integrating within their congregation. Chris later added:

...there are leaders that are trying to make a difference, but they need to be more aggressive with it, they really do need to be more aggressive with it... we do need to work harder at bringing together...leaders of the church must be on the forefront of that, if they're not, who will be? You know?

As their responses suggest, participants believe that the leaders are crucial to this endeavor of integrating the church. Patrick agreed with the need for diversity among the leaders.

One thing that has to happen is our platforms have to reflect the diversity that's in the congregation, so the leaderships of the congregation must also be diversified, and that's relatively not taking place.

Another reason for the hesitation to "cross the line" was mentioned by Brad:

(Unity has) to start with the pastors, we are very territorial by nature, um, you know, that's my flock, don't come to talk to people from my flock, but we have this ownership mentality that's not real. It's God's flock, you know? Um, so I think that you know, insecurity is a strong word to use, but

I'll use the word insecurity from the top, from the leadership have to be tore down. Um, you know, we can't be afraid of people leaving our church and going to another church. Um, because it's our image, and I think that's gotta happen, and when it starts with the pastors the people will choose to follow him. And, and then again, a biracial staff will create a biracial body and it's just that simple.

He also suggested the following:

And um, that's going to involve pastors coming together and um, in local congregations and fellowship groups and accountability groups, talk sessions, coffee talk stuff, prayer groups um, because people follow their pastors.

This belief from the vantage point of the participants is representative of the dialogue needed to gain understanding of other's standpoints. Their responses suggest that if the dialogue and change started at the leadership level, then the congregation is likely to change and grow toward understanding and integration. Douglas also underscored the important influence of leadership.

Going back again, leaders, the leaders, the church is only as strong as the pastor. The church is only as friendly as the pastor. See it's more power with me standing here (stands at pulpit) then [sic] in the Bible, it shouldn't be, but it is. And if the leaders could get together...I guarantee that you'll see a change.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

Discussion

As the responses suggest, there were several common themes throughout the interviews regarding church segregation, the first of which was the discrepancies among leaders' perceptions regarding the racial makeup of their congregations. This leads us to RQ1: How do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive the racial makeup of their church and the Christian church at large?

Though the analysis showed percentage discrepancies of non-whites given by the leaders in the racially diverse congregation, Brad, Chris and Beverly agreed that they have seen the racial makeup of their church become more diverse in the past year due to the hiring of a non-white leader. Their perceptions varied in terms of their own congregation, with the two white leaders perceiving a higher level of diversity, and the black leader seeing the diversity as "growing" and estimating the percentage of non-whites to be 20 percent lower than that of the white male leader's estimate. Collins (1986) asserts that outsiders, struggling between two groups, have the ability to be more objective in their observations. This would lead to the assumption that the minority group members' percentage estimates within their congregation are more accurate than those of the members of the dominant group, which could be because racialized group members are

typically more attuned to race and racial diversity than whites who rarely have to consider race.

Clearly, participant perceptions vary within their congregation; however, in terms of the Christian church at large, all three of the leaders interviewed from the racially diverse church saw it as segregated. The leaders of the predominantly African American church were all in agreement that their congregation was 100 percent African American and that the church at large was racially segregated. In hearing these largely varied estimations among the leaders of the other two churches a plausible explanation is that the varying estimates are a matter of differing standpoints which are based on world perceptions and are influenced by social group membership (Orbe & Harris, 2001). These standpoints might also influence definitions, such as what each individual perceives as "diverse." One person's idea of a "racially diverse" atmosphere could be completely different from another's. Keeping that in mind, perhaps when a white leader sees a handful of non-whites in what was a predominantly white congregation prior to the hiring of an African American pastor, his standpoint interprets this change as being one of diversity. However, for the African American pastor, Chris, who stated that this was his first experience working at or attending a church that is not predominantly African American, his standpoint may magnify him as "other" because this experience is very different from other church groups of which he has been a part. The same holds true for the predominantly white church. Again, the perception is that when you put even a small number of minority group members in a setting among the

majority, it may be perceived as being more diverse than it is in reality or from someone else's standpoint.

Within the societal racial hierarchy, viewpoints are often limited to those of the dominant group, thus presenting an inaccurate and skewed view and "reality" of society (Pels, 1996). Standpoint theory also tells us that due to our societal hierarchies, only partial views of reality are seen because of our position (Hartsock, 1983), which again paints an incomplete view, in this case, of the racial makeup of one's church.

I believe the potentially exaggerated percentages of non-whites in the congregations shared by the participants could also be due to an idea of not wanting the church to "look bad." Social identity theory (SIT) tells us that our efforts to maintain a positive self-concept are largely based upon our social group membership. As such, we will have favorable opinions regarding our group, and thus feel good about belonging to it (Turner, 1982).

The general finding from this question is that all 10 of the leaders saw the Christian community as being racially segregated. Some participants perceived the segregation as significant, describing it as "very segregated," "a huge problem," "an enormous amount of segregation," "extremely segregated" and so on, while other participants were less adamant, but still in agreement that racial segregation does exist in the Christian community. Regarding their own churches, it was harder for most of the white leaders to perceive the segregation in their own congregation. I believe this is due to the race of the individual.

Depending on our worldviews and vantage points of various situations, we will

perceive the world around us on small and large scales differently than others, regardless of their being in the same situation as us (Swigonski, 1994).

After church segregation is acknowledged, it is then logical to explore its causes, which leads to RQ2: What do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive as the cause(s) of church segregation? Unlike RQ1, there were no differences in participants' answers according to their church affiliation. Like causes were not limited to participants from the same congregation. The most common perceived causes were fear, lack of understanding, cultural and historical differences and traditions, a lack of dialogue and the need for the church leaders to take action. One black leader felt that in the black Christian community the fear of being called a "sellout" for "crossing the line" from the black church into a diversified or predominantly white congregation is a causal factor in church segregation. Also, as discussed in the analysis, a white pastor learned, through his interracial friendship with a black male pastor, that many white Christians do not want to "call a black man their pastor." It is the fear of getting to know and being led by one another in worship Christian teachings, the fear of taking a risk and reaching out, and simply, the fear of the unknown in regard to what one might encounter or how they may be perceived by both their in and out groups. This fear grounded in the unknown leads to a perpetuation of not understanding one another, thus perpetuating the racial segregation that continues to plague the Christian church of the 21st century.

Although the fears are an integral part of our culture, it is a hopeful sign that leaders from the three churches identified similar causes for this division. This shows that they are all on the same page and can strive toward solutions from there. Racism is still present in our society and is more than a mentality; racism is "the systematic subordination or certain racial groups by those in power" (Orbe & Harris, 2001, p. 6). So racism is the action, outward expression of hatred, whereas prejudices are the beliefs that guide the actions. If the church and society as a whole were able to acknowledge, understand and appreciate these differences, rather than ignore them, I believe more rapid progress toward integration would occur.

Finally, the church leaders' perception of the media's influence in regard to church segregation was explored through RQ3: Do leaders of a racially diverse congregation, a predominantly African American congregation and a predominantly European American congregation perceive the media as an influence in church segregation?

This question seemed to cause the most internal conflict and debate within the participant pool. Though the media may not seem to be a likely causal factor in church segregation, when prompted about their thoughts on the media's contribution to this phenomenon, many participants had to stop and think. Unlike the causal factors for church segregation, there did not seem to be common themes among the participants, but more individual answers from each participant. Initially, many responded that the media did not play a part in church segregation, yet later said that because of the media's power and influence on

society as a whole, they did contribute to church segregation. Though none of the leaders mentioned the media as a cause for church segregation, it is possible that the thought may have crossed their mind. It is also possible that none of the leaders would have come to the conclusion of media playing a role in church segregation without prompting. Either way, the question did make them think and recognize the media's influence in all areas of society, despite our recognition of it or our efforts to escape it, especially within the Christian community.

I would argue that the conflict between Christian principles and media influence that so many of the participants struggled with speaks to media's power to influence all aspects of society. From the perspective of the standpoint theory, the opinions and beliefs of members of the Christian community concerning the media represent the non-dominant perspective in our society. It shows the "stranger within" (Pels, 1996) thought process, or in Biblical terms being "in the world, but not of it" (The Holy Bible, 1984, John 15:19).

Further, because the media is guilty of racial stereotyping (Bogle, 1990; Entman, 1994; Evoleocha &Ugbah, 1989; MacDonald, 1992; Seiter, 1986), for some it may be their only exposure to different cultures. As such, the media perpetuate thought processes and assumptions that simplify the perceptions of different groups. Consequently, what we learn from and see in the media will often affect us and our actions in other areas of life including our faith and church community.

All 10 participants came to conclusions about church segregation and offered their opinions by means of their own lived experiences. I believe that it

was not necessarily their church affiliation and its racial makeup that categorized similar answers, but answers were shaped by each individual's racial identity. Though there are numerous theories used to understand and explain cultural identity, according to Phinney (1993), the process of identity formation involves three phases. The first is unexamined cultural identity in which we take our cultural values, customs, beliefs, etc. for granted (Orbe & Harris, 2001). In the second phase, cultural identity search, we explore and contemplate our culture and how we do or do not fit into different cultural groups. Finally, the third phase is our cultural identity achievement. In this phase, "we develop a clear, confident understanding and acceptance of ourselves...we internalize a strong cultural identity" (Orbe & Harris, 2001, p. 81).

In regard to this study, some individuals displayed a different levels of understanding and awareness of the issues. Typically, members of the dominant European American culture are less aware of their cultural identity than members of non-dominant groups simply because customs, beliefs and values of the European American society in our country are perceived as the "norm" (Orbe & Harris, 2001). So, in some instances, in this study, a black participant seemed more aware of racial issues than a white participant, and I believe that this is due to where each participant was in the process of understanding their cultural identity. It is also important to remember that cultural identities are complex and can change and shift depending on certain experiences throughout our lives (Orbe & Harris, 2001). I think that understanding how cultural identities couple with standpoints help to further explain various dimensions of this study and

allow us to understand why the churches of different racial composition did not seem to be a factor in participants' sharing the same opinions. Rather, it was more a matter of a specific individual participant in one church having a similar opinion to another individual in a different church. This is an important discovery because it suggests that church leaders are holding similar beliefs, opinions and ideas, and there is common regard at least regarding their concerns about segregation in the church.

Limitations

As with any study, there are limitations that are realized during or after the process. The first limitation concerns the lack of questions concerning cultural identity in the interview guide. In order to gain a better understanding of the participants' standpoints, more questions regarding their cultural identity should have been asked. Another limitation in this study was the concentrated location. Due to time and financial constraints, the interviews were conducted in only one small, southern city located in Northeast Georgia. If more time and resources were allotted, it would be interesting to find out how opinions may vary in terms of region. A comparison between viewpoints in the North and South would be particularly fascinating due to the often heightened racial tensions between blacks and whites present in the South. It may also have been beneficial to include a larger pool of participants to determine more clarity in the themes

The snowballing method of gathering the participants may also have been a limitation to this study. Gathering opinions of church leaders who are not related or referred to by one another may have provided for a more diverse set of

answers and perceptions. Denomination may be another factor to consider for future studies. This study happened to have three different denominations included, but having all of the same denomination may have changed the views on some level and allowed for a more controlled comparison. Additionally, including not only church leaders, but also congregants would add a different set of perspectives to the study. It may be that congregants would offer more candid viewpoints.

Controlling for other demographic variables such as gender, age and even including different racial and ethnic groups may also provide an interesting level for comparing and contrasting. I also think that assuring the racial makeup of the churches as closer to 50 percent black and 50 percent white for the racially diverse church, 100 percent white and 100 percent black might have made the answers more distinct between churches. Finally, my racial identity as a white female could have been a limitation as well during the interviews. Some participants may have been hesitant to discuss certain issues because of my race or gender. A possible solution to this may be to have two researchers of two different races conduct the interviews to heighten the comfort level of the participants when discussing racial issues.

Overall, one of my goals for this project was to start a dialogue. I believe that asking the questions and having the conversations that I had through the research interviews might have planted some seeds or consequently increased the possibility of having a dialogue on the topic of church segregation which I hope may lead to some changes toward church integration.

Despite these limitations, I can conclude that the standpoints gathered through in-depth interviewing can show us both similarities and differences between and among groups as it is based on personal life experiences and worldviews (Collins, 1986). The important thing is that we seek these viewpoints of others, listen to those views and engage in a dialogue to better understand and use our new knowledge to increase effective interracial communication and integration. Though the dialogue is important, the actions are of greater importance. In 1966, Eugene Carson Blake, an evangelist and member of both national and world church councils, wrote:

Unless the churches can move forward to the actual and voluntary establishment of a new pluralistic nondiscriminatory pattern of race relations here and abroad, they will have failed at a crucial moment of history (p.16).

Have we failed to establish a "nondiscriminatory pattern of race relations" at the "crucial moment", or is the process a lot more complicated and slow-moving than we anticipated? Regardless of the past, the productivity of an integrated church in the future lies in the Christian community actually demonstrating with progressive actions to all of society a true picture of love and acceptance to all through integration. It may be best to adopt the advice given by one of the leaders during his interview in terms of where we go from here. I think he summed it up when he said, "Let's just get up off our butts and do something!"

The lack of a clear distinction between the opinions and thoughts of the participants in each of the three congregations is a positive sign. Black and white leaders are coming to similar conclusions and voicing similar concerns and solutions in each of their churches. Seeking out the individual voices within the

Christian community can lead toward Pohlhaus' (2002) suggestion toward "knowing communities" (p.292). The challenge now is to come together and share these thoughts in agreement toward a solution and making changes within the Christian community, a supposed community of love and grace, to foster as an example for society as a whole.

<u>REFERENCES</u>

- Allen, B. J. (1998). Black womanhood and feminist standpoint. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 11, 575-586.
- Apple, A. L. & Messner, B. A. (2001, Spring). Paranoia and Paradox: The Apocalyptic Rhetoric of Christian Identity. *Western Journal of Communication*, 65(2), 206-227.
- Argyle, M. (1959). Religious Behavior. Glencoe, III.: Free Press.
- Barbour, R. B. (1967). *Black and White Together: Plain Talk for Christians*. Philadelphia: United Church Press.
- Barkan, M. (1997). Religion and the racist right: The origins of the Christian Identity movement. Chapel Hill, N.C.: University of North Carolina Press.
- Barkman, E. R. (1995). Race, religion, and nationality in American society: a model of ethnicity—from contact to assimilation. *Journal of American Ethnic History*, *14*(2), 38-62.
- Blake, E. C. (1966). "The church in the next decade." In Barbour, R. B. (1967). Black and White Together: Plain Talk for Christians. Philadelphia: United Church Press.
- Bogle, D. (1994). Toms, coons, mulattoes, mammies and bucks: An interpretative history of Blacks in American films. New York: Viking Press.
- Carbaugh, D. (1998). "I can't do that! But I can actually see around the corners":

 American Indian students and the study of public communication. In Orbe,
 M. P. & Harris, T. M. (2001). Interracial Communication: Theory into

 Practice. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Thomas Learning.
- Collins, P. H. (1986). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of black feminist thought. *Social Problems 33*(6), 14-23.
- Collins, P. H. (1989). The social construction of black feminist thought. *Signs: Journal of women in culture and society*, 22, 745-773.
- Collins, P. H. (1990). *Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness and Politics of empowerment.* Boston: Unwin Hyman.

- Collins, P. H. (1997). Comment on Heckman's "Truth and Method: Feminist standpoint theory revisited": Where's the power?. Signs: Journal of women in culture and society, 22(2), 375-381.
- Davies, S. & Hennessee, P. T. (Eds.) (1998). *Ending Racism in the Church*. Cleveland, OH: United Church Press.
- DeYoung, C. P., Emerson, M. O., Yancey, G. & Kim, K. C. (2003). *United by Faith: The Multiracial Congregation as Answer to the Problem of Race.*New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- Eichenberg, C. (2004). Faith In A Box: Entertainment Television and Religion. Parents Television Council Special Report, September, 2004.
- Entman, R. (1994). Representations and reality in the portrayal of blacks on network television shows. *Journalism Quarterly*, 71(1), 509-520.
- Evoleocha, S. U., & Ugbah, S. D. (1989). Stereotypes, counter-stereotypes and Black television images in the 1990s. *Western Journal of Black Studies*, 12, 197-205.
- Frankenberg, R. (1993). White Women, Race Matters: The Social Construction of Whiteness. In Gray, A. (2003). Research Practice for Cultural Studies. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Frazier, E. F. (1974). The Negro Church in America. New York: Schocken Books.
- Glock, C. Y. & Stark, R. (1966). *Christian Beliefs and Anti-Semitism.* New York: Harper Row.
- Goldschmidt, H. & McAlister, E. (Eds.) (2004). *Race, nation, and religion in the Americas*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Graham, B. (1993, Oct. 4). Racism and the Evangelical Church, 27.
- Gray, A. (2003). Research Practice for Cultural Studies. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Gros, J. (1998). A Sharing of Gifts and Struggles in God's Will and Our Unity. In Davies, S. & Hennessee, P. T. (Eds.) (1998). Ending Racism in the Church. Cleveland, OH: United Church Press.

- Hall, S. (1981). The Whites of their Eyes: Racist Ideologies and the Media. In Bridges, G.& Brunt, R. (1981). Silver Linings: Some strategies for the eighties. London: Lawrence and Wishart, Ltd. In Dines, G. & Humez, Jean M. (Eds.) (2003). Second Edition: Gender, Race and Class in Media. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hall, S. (1982). The Rediscovery of Ideology: return of the repressed in media studies. In Gurevitch, Michael (1982). Culture, Society and the Media. London: Methuen.
- Harding, S. (1987). *Feminism and methodology*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Harding, S. (1991). Whose science? Whose knowledge? Thinking from women's lives. Ithaca NY: Cornell University Press.
- Harris, T. M. & Donmoyer, D. (2000). Is art imitating life?: Communicating Gender and racial identity in *Imitation of Life. Women's Studies in Communication*, 23(1), 91-110.
- Hartsock, N. C. M. (1983). The feminist standpoint: Developing the ground for a specifically feminist historical material. In Swigonski, M. (1994, July). The logic of feminist standpoint theory for social work research. Social work, 39(4), 387-393.
- Hodges, C. A. & Siegel, R. (2003, May 31). *This Far by Faith. Christian Century, 120*(11), 45-49.
- Holloman, C. & Murtaugh, J. (1998). The Interfaith Conference of Greater Milwaukee's Beyond Racism Project. In Davies, S. & Hennessee, P. T. (Eds.) (1998). Ending Racism in the Church. Cleveland, OH: United Church Press.
- Hough Jr., J. C. (1968) *Black Power and White Protestants.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hunt, L. & Hunt, M. O. (2001, December). Race, region, and religious involvement: A comparative study of whites and African Americans. *Social Forces*, 80(2), 605-631.
- Janack, M. (2001). Standpoint epistemology without the "standpoint"?: an examination of epistemic privilege and epistemic authority. *Hypatta*, 12(2), 125-139.

- Jensen, K. B. (Ed.), (2002). A Handbook of Media and Communication Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Methodologies. New York: Routledge.
- Johnson, R., Chambers, D., Raghuram, P. & Tincknell, E. (2004) *The Practice of Cultural Studies*. London: Sage Publications.
- Johnsson-Smaragdi, U. & Jönsson, A. (1994). Self-evaluation in an ecological Perspective: Neighbourhood, family and peers, schooling and media use. In Rosengren K. E. (1994). *Media Effects and Beyond: Culture, Socialization and Lifestyle*. New York: Routledge.
- Jones, W. (1973). *Is God a White Racist?/ A Preamble to Black Theology.* Garden City, New York: Anchor Press/ Double Day.
- Keller (1985). In P. H. Collins (1991). *Mammies, matriarchs and other controlling images*. In P. H. Collins *Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness and Politics of empowerment*. Boston: Unwin Hyman.
- Kellner (1995). Media Culture. New York: Routeledge.
- Kingsolving, C. (1993, March 8). Racism in the church. Christian Today, 55.
- Kvale, S. (1996). *Interviews: An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Lenz, B. (2004). Postcolonial fiction and the outsider within: Toward a literary practice of feminist standpoint theory. *NWSA Journal*, *16*(2), 98-120.
- Lindlof, T. & Taylor, B. (2002). *Qualitative Communication Research Methods Second Edition*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- MacDonald, J. F. (1992). Black and white TV: Afro-Americans in television since 1948. Chicago: Nelson-Hall.
- Maffly-Kipp, L. (2004). African-American Religion in the nineteenth century.
 University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, National Humanities Center.
 [Online] Available:
 http://www.nhc.rtp.nc.us/tserve/nineteen/nkeyinfo/nafrican.htm.
- Maston, T. B. (1959). Segregation and Desegregation: A Christian Approach.

 New York: The Macmillan Company.
- Matsuoka, F. (1998). The Color of Faith: Building Community in a Multiracial Society. Cleveland, OH: United Church Press.

- Miegel, F. (1994). Values, lifestyles and family communication. In Rosengren K. E. (1994). *Media Effects and Beyond: Culture, Socialization and Lifestyle*. New York: Routledge.
- Murdock, G. (1982). Large Corporations and the Control of Communication. In M. Gurevitch, T. Bennett, J. Curran & J. Wollacott (Eds.) *Culture, Society and the Media*. London: Methuen. In Jensen, K.B. (Ed.), (2002). *A Handbook of Media and Communication Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Methodologies*. New York: Routledge.
- Newman, J. (1996). *Religion vs. Television: Competitors in Cultural Context.* Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Orbe, M. P. & Harris, T. M. (2001). *Interracial Communication: Theory into Practice*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Thomas Learning.
- Ostendorf, D. (2002). Christian Identity: An American Heresy. *Journal of Hate Studies*, 1(1).
- Pels, D. (1996). Strange standpoints: or, how to define the situation for situated knowledge. *Telos*, *108*, 65-92.
- Perkinson, J. W. (2004). White Theology: Outing Supremacy in Modernity. New York: Pelgrave Macmillan.
- Phinney, J. S. (1993). A three-stage model of ethnic identity development in adolescence. In M. E. Bernal & G. P. Knight Ethnic identity: Formation and transmissions among Hispanics and other immigrants. Albany: SUNY Press.
- Pohlhaus, G. (2002). Knowing communities: an investigation of Harding's standpoint epistemology. *Social Epistemology*, *16*(3), 283-293.
- Pollard, A. B. & Welchel Jr., L. H. (Eds.) (2004). "How Long this Road": Race, Religion and the Legacy of C. Eric Lincoln. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Price, F. K. C. (2001, April). The gospel of division in the church. *The Black Collegian, Thirtieth Anniversary Volume*, 134-135.
- Price, F. K. C. *Race, Religion & Racism.* In Price, F.K.C. (2001, April). The gospel of division in the church. *The Black Collegian*, 134-135.
- Priest, S. H. (1996). *Doing Media Research, an Introduction.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Reist, B. A. (1975). *Theology in Red, White, and Black.* Philadelphia: Westminster Press.
- Roberts, J. D. (1980). *Roots of a Black Future: Family and Church*. Philadelphia: The Westminster Press.
- Robinson, B. A. (March 2, 2005). Christian Identity Movement. [Online] Available: http://www.religioustolernace.org/cr_ident.htm.
- Rosengren, K. E., Johnsson-Smaragdi, U. & Sonesson, I. (1994) For better and for worse: Effects studies and beyond. In Rosengren K. E. (1994). *Media Effects and Beyond: Culture, Socialization and Lifestyle*. New York: Routledge.
- Schement, J. R. & Stephenson, H. C. (1996). Religion and the Information Society. In Stout, D. A. & Buddenbaum, J. M. (1996). *Religion and Mass Media: Audiences and Adaptations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Schoen, L. (1998). *Minnesota Churches' Anti-Racism Initiative*. In Davies, S. & Hennessee, P. T. (Eds.) (1998). *Ending Racism in the Church*. Cleveland, OH: United Church Press.
- Schultze, Q. J. (2003). *Christianity and the Mass Media in America.* East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University Press.
- Seiter, E. (1990). Different children, different dreams: Racial representations in advertising. *Journal of Communication Inquiry, 14, 31-47.*
- Sharp, D. R. (2002). *No Partiality: The Idolatry of Race and & the New Humanity.* Downers Grove, Ill.: InterVarsity Press.
- Shaw, C. (1999). Deciding What We Watch: Taste, Decency, and Media Ethics in the UK and the USA. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Simms, R. (2000). Christ is Black with a capital "B": African-American Christianity and the Black studies project. *The Western Journal of Black Studies*, 24(2), 100-111.
- Smith, D. E. (1987). *The everyday world as problematic.* Boston: Northeastern University Press.
- Steele, J. R. & Brown, J. D. (1995). Adolescent room culture: Studying media in the context of everyday life. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 24.

- Stweart, H. M. & Clark, L. S. (2002). *Practicing Religion in the Age of Media: Explorations in Media, Religion, and Culture.* New York: Columbia University Press.
- Swigonski, M. (1994, July). The logic of feminist standpoint theory for social work research. *Social work*, *39*(4), 387-393.
- Tait, L. T. & van Gorder, C.A. (2004). *Three-Fifths Theology: Challenging Racism in American Christianity.* Trenton, NJ: Africa World Press, Inc.
- The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, (4th Ed.) (2000). Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- The Holy Bible: New International Version. (1984). Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan.
- Troelsch, E. (1912). *The Social Teaching of the Christian Church.* In Reist, B. A. (1975). *Theology in Red, White, and Black.* Philadelphia: Westminster Press.
- Tumin, M. M. (1956). Segregation and Desegregation: A Digest of Recent Research.
- Turner, J. C. (1982). *Toward a cognitive redefinition of the social group*. In Jones, Melinda (2002). *Social Psychology of Prejudice*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Turner, P. (1994). Ceramic uncles and celluloid mammies: Black images and their influence on culture. New York: Anchor Books.
- Sky Angel at a Glance. (March 29, 2005). [Online] Available: http://www.skyangel.com/about/index.isp.
- www.medialit.org/about cml.html (June 2005).

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEWEE PROFILES

Racially Diverse Church Leaders

- 1) Chris: African American male, 35-40 years-old, leadership position: minister of music, years serving at current church: 1 year, 4 months, total years in church leadership: about 17. His father is a pastor; grew up in all black churches all of his life in a Northeastern state, but chose to take a position at a non-black church and knew he was being hired partially because of his not being white.
- 2) Brad: European American male, 30-35 years-old, leadership position: head pastor, years serving at current church: 5, total years in church leadership: 19. Worked as a youth pastor for 10 years; father is a pastor intentionally hired a non-white leader to diversify his congregation; attended church all his life.
- 3) Beverly: European American female, 55-60 years-old, leadership position: church music teacher and associate pastor's wife, years serving at current church: 9, total years in church leadership: 30+. Moved from a small Midwestern town to LA after college, where she lived for eight years. Has an adopted, Hispanic daughter; attended church all her life.

African American Church Leaders

- 1) Douglas: African American female, 30-35 years-old, leadership position: pastor's wife, years serving at current church: 2, total years in church leadership: 2; attended church all his life.
- 2) Anna: African American male, 40-45 years-old, leadership position: pastor, years serving at current church: 9, total years in church leadership: 12; attended church all her life.
- 3) Henry: African American male, 50-55 years-old, leadership position: deacon, years serving at current church: 10, total years in church leadership: 10; attended church since age nine.

European American Church Leaders

1) Nicole: African American female, 20-25 years-old, leadership position: youth ministries leader, years serving at current church: 1, total years in

- church leadership: 1; attended racially diverse congregations all her life; attended an HBCU (Historically Black Colleges and Universities).
- 2) Patrick: European American male 50-55 years-old, leadership position: pastor, years serving at current church: 11, total years in church leadership: 27. Has a degree in psychology, active in overseas mission projects; attended church all his life.
- 3) Jane: European American female 30-35 years-old, leadership position: children's ministry teacher, years serving at current church: 2, total years in church leadership: 2. Works full-time at an international, Christian-based facility for troubled youth and adults; attended church all her life.
- 4) Debbie: European American female 60-65 years-old, leadership position: church secretary, coordinator & teacher of girls discipleship program, and pastor's wife, years serving at current church: 30, total years in church leadership: 40; attended church all her life.

APPENDIX B

Consent Form

I agree to participate in the research titled "African American	an and
European Church Leaders' Perceptions on Segregation within the Church" which is being co	onducted by
Felicitas McKinnon Boldin, Grady College of Journalism and Mass Communication public	elations
master's student, University of Georgia (724-840-0393). I understand that this participation	is entire
voluntary, and I can withdraw consent at any time without penalty and have the results of the	e participation,
to the extent that it can be identified as mine, returned to me, removed from research records	or destroyed.
The following points have been explained to me:	

- 1) The reason for this research is to explore the links between racial stereotyping in the media and segregation within the Christian community.
- 2) There are no direct benefits associated with my research.
- 3) The procedures are as follows:
 - a. Interviews will be set up by phone or e-mail at a location and time convenient for the participant.
 - b. I will read and be asked to sign a consent form regarding my participation in the study.
 - c. Interviews should last approximately 45-90 minutes. (The interview will be audio taped. The researcher will take notes. Follow-up interviews are not anticipated.)
- 4) No discomforts or stresses are foreseen.
- 5) No risks are foreseen.
- 6) The results of this participation will be confidential, and will not be released in any individually identifiable form without prior consent, unless otherwise required by law. For the purposes of confidentiality, tapes and transcriptions of the interviews will be labeled with pseudonyms. Tapes will be kept for one years after the interview takes place, in order to ensure adequate analysis and publication of results.
- 7) The researcher will answer any further questions about the research, now or during the course of the project, and can be reached by telephone at: 724-840-0393. The researcher can also be reached by e-mail at: fboldin@uga.edu.

Please sign both copies of this form. Keep one, and return the other to the investigator.

Signature of Researcher	Date	
Printed name of researcher	E-mail	
Signature of Participant	Date	
Drinted name of porticipant	E-mail	
Printed name of participant	E-IIIaII	

Additional questions or problems regarding your rights as a research participant should be addressed to Chris A. Joseph, Ph.D. Human Subjects Office, University of Georgia, 612 Boyd Graduate Studies Research Center, Athens, Georgia 30602-7411; Telephone (706) 542-3199; E-Mail Address IRB@uga.edu.

APPENDIX C

INTERVIEW GUIDE

- 1) Describe your identity as a Christian.
- 2) How long have you been involved in the church, and what denomination(s) have you been a part of?
- 3) How long have you been a church leader?
- 4) How do you believe Christians do or should view the media in comparison to non-Christians?
- 5) What is the size and the racial makeup of your current church, both the congregation and the leaders?
- 6) As a Christian, do you and/or your congregation worship and/or participate in fellowship with Christians of a different race than your own? If so, how often and in what capacity?
- 7) How do you see that the Christian community is racially segregated? Do you see this as a major concern and topic of discussion among the church community?
- 8) If you see the church as racially segregated, how responsible, if at all, is the media for that segregation?
- 9) As a Christian, how do you view the media's portrayal of race?
- 10) What kinds of stereotyping do you see in the media, or would you say the media accurately depicts most racial/ethnic groups the majority of the time?
- 11) In what ways do you see the media holding responsibility for increasing racial tensions within our society and to what extent?
- 12) In what way is the Christian community responsible in society to act as a positive example for integration and racial diversity? How can this be achieved?